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GLOSSARY OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS TERMS

The following is a description of the meanings of some of the oil and natural gas industry terms used throughout this report:

3-D seismic. Geophysical data that depict the subsurface strata in three dimensions. 3-D seismic typically provides a more detailed and accurate
interpretation of the subsurface strata than 2-D, or two-dimensional, seismic.

Bbl. Stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used in this report in reference to crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

Bbls/d. Bbls per day.

BOE. Barrels of oil equivalent, with six thousand cubic feet of natural gas being equivalent to one barrel of oil.

BOE/d. BOE per day.

Completion. The process of treating a drilled well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for the production of natural gas or oil, or in the
case of a dry hole, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Condensate. Liquid hydrocarbons associated with the production of a primarily natural gas reserve.

Developed acreage. The number of acres that are allocated or assignable to productive wells or wells capable of production.

Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of a natural gas or oil reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.

Dry hole. A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed
production expenses and taxes.

Exploratory well. A well drilled to find and produce natural gas or oil reserves not classified as proved, to find a new reservoir in a field previously
found to be productive of natural gas or oil in another reservoir or to extend a known reservoir.

Field. An area consisting of either a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs, all grouped on or related to the same individual geological structural feature
and/or stratigraphic condition.

Finding and development costs. Capital costs incurred in the acquisition, exploitation and exploration of proved oil and natural gas reserves divided by
proved reserve additions and revisions to proved reserves.

Fracturing. The process of creating and preserving a fracture or system of fractures in a reservoir rock typically by injecting a fluid under pressure
through a wellbore and into the targeted formation.

Gross acres or gross wells. The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is owned.

Horizontal drilling. A drilling technique used in certain formations where a well is drilled vertically to a certain depth and then drilled at a right angle
with a specified interval.

MBbls. Thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

MBOE. One thousand barrels of crude oil equivalent, determined using a ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of crude oil, condensate or natural
gas liquids.

Mcf. Thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

Mcf/d. Mcf per day.

MMBtu. Million British Thermal Units.

MMcf. Million cubic feet of natural gas.



Net acres or net wells. The sum of the fractional working interest owned in gross acres or gross wells, as the case may be.

Net revenue interest. An owner’s interest in the revenues of a well after deducting proceeds allocated to royalty and overriding interests.

PDP. Proved developed producing.

Play. A set of discovered or prospective oil and/or natural gas accumulations sharing similar geologic, geographic and temporal properties, such as
source rock, reservoir structure, timing, trapping mechanism and hydrocarbon type.

Plugging and abandonment. Refers to the sealing off of fluids in the strata penetrated by a well so that the fluids from one stratum will not escape into
another or to the surface. Regulations of all states require plugging of abandoned wells.

PUD. Proved undeveloped.

Productive well. A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of the production
exceed production expenses and taxes.

Prospect. A specific geographic area which, based on supporting geological, geophysical or other data and also preliminary economic analysis using
reasonably anticipated prices and costs, is deemed to have potential for the discovery of commercial hydrocarbons.

Proved developed reserves. Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.

Proved reserves. The estimated quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be commercially recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

Proved undeveloped reserves. Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from existing wells where a
relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.

Recompletion. The process of re-entering an existing wellbore that is either producing or not producing and completing new reservoirs in an attempt to
establish or increase existing production.

Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible natural gas and/or oil that is confined by
impermeable rock or water barriers and is separate from other reservoirs.

Stratigraphic play. An oil or natural gas formation contained within an area created by permeability and porosity changes characteristic of the
alternating rock layer that result from the sedimentation process.

Structural play. An oil or natural gas formation contained within an area created by earth movements that deform or rupture (such as folding or
faulting) rock strata.

Undeveloped acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of commercial
quantities of oil and natural gas regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves.

Working interest. The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating activities on the property and receive a
share of production and requires the owner to pay a share of the costs of drilling and production operations.



CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Various statements contained in this report that express a belief, expectation, or intention, or that are not statements of historical fact, are forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond
our control. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses,
projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. When used in this quarterly report, the words “could,”
“believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “may,” “continue,” “predict,” “potential,” “project,” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words. In particular, the factors discussed in this quarterly
report on Form 10–Q and detailed under Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this report and our Annual Report on Form 10–K for the year ended December 31,
2013 could affect our actual results and cause our actual results to differ materially from expectations, estimates or assumptions expressed, forecasted or
implied in such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements may include statements about our:

• business strategy;

• exploration and development drilling prospects, inventories, projects and programs;

• oil and natural gas reserves;

• identified drilling locations;

• ability to obtain permits and governmental approvals;

• technology;

• financial strategy;

• realized oil and natural gas prices;

• production;

• lease operating expenses, general and administrative costs and finding and development costs;

• future operating results; and

• plans, objectives, expectations and intentions.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this quarterly report. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all
factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements we may make. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward-looking
statements we make in this quarterly report are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these plans, intentions or expectations will be achieved or occur, and
actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
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Diamondback Energy, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

                                                                                                           

  March 31,  December 31,
  2014  2013

  
(In thousands, except par values and share

data)
Assets     

Current assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 25,314  $ 15,555
Accounts receivable:     

Joint interest and other  15,920  14,437
Oil and natural gas sales  38,360  23,533
Related party  2,298  1,303

Inventories  5,889  5,631
Deferred income taxes  1,377  112
Derivative instruments  —  213
Prepaid expenses and other  1,495  1,184

Total current assets  90,653  61,968
Property and equipment     

Oil and natural gas properties, based on the full cost method of accounting ($485,184 and $369,561
excluded from amortization at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively)  2,065,571  1,648,360
Pipeline and gas gathering assets  6,503  6,142
Other property and equipment  4,635  4,071
Accumulated depletion, depreciation, amortization and impairment  (243,131)  (212,236)

  1,833,578  1,446,337
Derivative instruments  —  218
Other assets  12,666  13,091

Total assets  $ 1,936,897  $ 1,521,614

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable-trade  $ 24,487  $ 2,679
Accounts payable-related party  313  17
Accrued capital expenditures  68,207  74,649
Other accrued liabilities  46,649  34,750
Revenues and royalties payable  12,645  9,225
Derivative instruments  2,910  —

Total current liabilities  155,211  121,320
Long-term debt  587,000  460,000
Asset retirement obligations  5,147  2,989
Deferred income taxes  106,630  91,764

Total liabilities  853,988  676,073
Contingencies (Note 12)   
Stockholders’ equity:     

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 50,700,099 issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2014; 47,106,216 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013  508  471
Additional paid-in capital  1,056,299  842,557
Retained earnings  26,102  2,513

Total stockholders’ equity  1,082,909  845,541

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,936,897  $ 1,521,614

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Diamondback Energy, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:     

Oil sales  $ 89,758  $ 25,253
Natural gas sales  1,755  739
Natural gas sales - related party  1,580  412
Natural gas liquid sales  2,584  1,822
Natural gas liquid sales - related party  2,327  683

Total revenues  98,004  28,909
Costs and expenses:     

Lease operating expenses  7,807  4,706
Lease operating expenses - related party  108  202
Production and ad valorem taxes  5,578  1,878
Production and ad valorem taxes - related party  264  76
Gathering and transportation  214  75
Gathering and transportation - related party  368  58
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  30,973  10,738
General and administrative expenses (including non-cash stock based compensation, net of capitalized
amounts, of $2,190 and $458 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively)  4,265  2,185
General and administrative expenses - related party  292  286
Asset retirement obligation accretion expense  72  43

Total costs and expenses  49,941  20,247
Income from operations  48,063  8,662
Other income (expense)     

Interest expense  (6,505)  (485)
Other income - related party  30  389
Loss on derivative instruments, net  (4,398)  (8)

Total other income (expense), net  (10,873)  (104)
Income before income taxes  37,190  8,558
Provision for income taxes     

Deferred  13,601  3,162

Net income  $ 23,589  $ 5,396

Earnings per common share     
Basic  $ 0.49  $ 0.15
Diluted  $ 0.48  $ 0.15

Weighted average common shares outstanding     
Basic  48,447  37,059
Diluted  48,867  37,206

     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Diamondback Energy, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)

  Common Stock  Additional  Retained   
  Shares Amount  Paid-in Capital  Earnings  Total

  (In thousands)
Balance December 31, 2013  47,106 $ 471  $ 842,557  $ 2,513  $ 845,541

Stock based compensation  — —  3,256  —  3,256
Common shares issued in public
offering, net of offering costs  3,450 35  208,410  —  208,445
Exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units  145 2  2,076  —  2,078
Net income  — —  —  23,589  23,589

Balance March 31, 2014  50,701 $ 508  $ 1,056,299  $ 26,102  $ 1,082,909

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net income  $ 23,589  $ 5,396
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Provision for deferred income taxes  13,601  3,162
Asset retirement obligation accretion expense  72  43
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  30,973  10,738
Amortization of debt issuance costs  458  153
Change in fair value of derivative instruments  3,342  (1,537)
Stock based compensation expense  2,190  655
Gain on sale of assets  (11)  (9)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Accounts receivable  (12,490)  (8,393)
Accounts receivable-related party  (995)  3,908
Inventories  (258)  (89)
Prepaid expenses and other  (311)  (415)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  7,590  3,243
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities-related party  296  (108)
Revenues and royalties payable  3,420  108

Net cash provided by operating activities  71,466  16,855
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Additions to oil and natural gas properties  (84,211)  (50,094)
Additions to oil and natural gas properties-related party  (1,650)  (4,868)
Acquisition of Gulfport properties  —  (18,550)
Acquisition of leasehold interests  (312,207)  —
Pipeline and gas gathering assets  (532)  —
Purchase of other property and equipment  (595)  (302)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  11  9
Settlement of non-hedge derivative instruments  —  (289)

Net cash used in investing activities  (399,184)  (74,094)
Cash flows from financing activities:     

Proceeds from borrowings on credit facility  127,000  36,500
Debt issuance costs  (82)  —
Public offering costs  (75)  (103)
Proceeds from public offering  208,644  —
Exercise of stock options  1,990  —

Net cash provided by financing activities  337,477  36,397
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  9,759  (20,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  15,555  26,358

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 25,314  $ 5,516

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (In thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:     

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest  $ 149  $ 141

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:     
Asset retirement obligation incurred  $ 214  $ 62

Asset retirement obligation revisions in estimated liability  $ 588  $ —

Asset retirement obligation acquired  $ 1,294  $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1.    DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Organization and Description of the Business
Diamondback Energy, Inc. (“Diamondback” or the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries, is an independent oil and gas company currently focused on the
acquisition, development, exploration and exploitation of unconventional, onshore oil and natural gas reserves in the Permian Basin in West Texas.
Diamondback was incorporated in Delaware on December 30, 2011.

The subsidiaries of Diamondback, as of March 31, 2014, include Diamondback E&P LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Diamondback O&G LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, Viper Energy Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Viper Energy Partners LP, a Delaware limited
partnership, and Viper Energy Partners GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. The subsidiaries are all wholly owned.

On October 11, 2012, Diamondback acquired from Gulfport Energy Corporation (“Gulfport”) all of its oil and natural gas interests in the Permian Basin (the
“Gulfport properties”) in exchange for shares of Diamondback common stock and a promissory note in a transaction referred to as the “Gulfport transaction”.
The Gulfport transaction was treated as a business combination accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting with the identifiable assets and
liabilities recognized at fair value on the date of transfer.

On May 21, 2013, the Company completed an underwritten primary public offering of 5,175,000 shares of common stock, which included 675,000 shares of
common stock issued pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares granted to the underwriters. The stock was sold to the public at $29.25 per share and
the Company received net proceeds of approximately $144.4 million from the sale of these shares of common stock, net of offering expenses and
underwriting discounts and commissions.

On June 24, 2013, Gulfport and certain entities controlled by Wexford Capital, LP (“Wexford”), our equity sponsor, completed an underwritten secondary
public offering of 6,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and, on July 5, 2013, the underwriters purchased an additional 869,222 shares of the
Company’s common stock from these selling stockholders pursuant to an option to purchase such additional shares granted to the underwriters. The shares
were sold to the public at $34.75 per share and the selling stockholders received all proceeds from this offering.

In August 2013, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 4,600,000 shares of common stock, which included 600,000 shares of common
stock issued pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares granted to the underwriters. The stock was sold to the public at $40.25 per share and the
Company received net proceeds of approximately $177.5 million from the sale of these shares of common stock, net of offering expenses and underwriting
discounts and commissions.

In September 2013, the Company completed an offering of $450.0 million principal amount of its 7.625% Senior Notes due 2021. See Note 6 below.

In February 2014, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 3,450,000 shares of common stock, which included 450,000 shares of common
stock issued pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares granted to the underwriters. The stock was sold to the public at $62.67 per share and the
Company received net proceeds of approximately $208.4 million from the sale of these shares of common stock, net of offering expenses and underwriting
discounts and commissions.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries after all significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

These financial statements have been prepared by the Company without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). They reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for interim periods,
on a basis consistent with the annual audited financial statements. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. Certain information, accounting
policies and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States have been omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations, although

6
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Diamondback Energy, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued)
(Unaudited)

the Company believes the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. This Quarterly Report on Form 10–Q should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10–K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, which contains a summary of the
Company’s significant accounting policies and other disclosures.

2.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

Certain amounts included in or affecting the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures must be estimated by management,
requiring certain assumptions to be made with respect to values or conditions that cannot be known with certainty at the time the consolidated financial
statements are prepared. These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts the Company reports for assets and liabilities and the Company’s disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis, using historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods the Company considers
reasonable in the particular circumstances. Nevertheless, actual results may differ significantly from the Company’s estimates. Any effects on the Company’s
business, financial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are recorded in the period in which the facts that give rise to the
revision become known. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves and related
present value estimates of future net cash flows therefrom, the carrying value of oil and natural gas properties, asset retirement obligations, the fair value
determination of acquired assets and liabilities, stock-based compensation, fair value estimates of commodity derivatives and estimates of income taxes.

3.    ACQUISITIONS

2014 Activity

On February 27 and 28, 2014, the Company completed acquisitions of oil and natural gas interests in the Permian Basin from unrelated third party sellers.
The Company acquired approximately 6,450 gross (4,785 net) acres with a 74% working interest (56% net revenue interest). The acquisitions were accounted
for according to the acquisition method, which requires the recording of net assets acquired and consideration transferred at fair value. These acquisitions
were funded in part by the net proceeds of the February 2014 equity offering discussed in Note 1 above.

The following represents the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed on the acquisition dates. The aggregate consideration transferred was
$292,159,000 in cash, subject to post-closing adjustments, resulting in no goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

  (in thousands)
Proved oil and natural gas properties  $ 170,174
Unevaluated oil and natural gas properties  123,243
Asset retirement obligations  (1,258)

Total fair value of net assets  $ 292,159

The Company has included in its consolidated statements of operations revenues of $4,898,000 and direct operating expenses of $1,074,000 for the period
from February 28, 2014 to March 31, 2014 due to the acquisitions. The disclosure of net earnings is impracticable to calculate due to the full cost method of
depletion. The following unaudited summary pro forma combined consolidated statement of operations data of Diamondback for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 and 2013 has been prepared to give effect to the acquisitions as if they had occurred on January 1, 2013. The pro forma data are not
necessarily indicative of financial results that would have been attained had the acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2013. The pro forma data also necessarily
exclude various operation expenses related to the properties and the financial statements should not be viewed as indicative of operations in future periods.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued)
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013
  (Pro Forma)  (Pro Forma)

  (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues  $ 107,979  $ 44,391
Income from operations  52,193  14,656
Net income  26,209  9,175
Basic earnings per common share  $ 0.54  $ 0.25
Diluted earnings per common share  $ 0.54  $ 0.25

2013 Activity

In September 2013, the Company completed two separate acquisitions of additional leasehold interests in the Permian Basin from unrelated third party sellers
for an aggregate purchase price of $165.0 million, subject to certain adjustments. The first of these acquisitions closed on September 4, 2013 when the
Company acquired certain assets located in northwestern Martin County, Texas, consisting of a 100% working interest (80% net revenue interest) in 4,506
gross and net acres. The second of these acquisitions closed on September 26, 2013, when the Company acquired certain assets located primarily in
southwestern Dawson County, Texas, consisting of a 71% working interest (55% net revenue interest) in 9,390 gross (6,638 net) acres. These acquisitions
were funded with a portion of the net proceeds from the August 2013 equity offering discussed in Note 1 above.

On September 19, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of the mineral interests underlying approximately 14,804 gross (12,687 net) acres in
Midland County, Texas in the Permian Basin. The mineral interests entitle the Company to receive an average 21.4% royalty interest on all production from
this acreage with no additional future capital or operating expense required. The $440.0 million purchase price was funded with the net proceeds of the
Company’s offering of Senior Notes discussed in Note 6 below.

4.    PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment includes the following:

  March 31,  December 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands)
Oil and natural gas properties:     

Subject to depletion  $ 1,580,387  $ 1,278,799
Not subject to depletion-acquisition costs     

Incurred in 2014  142,064  —
Incurred in 2013  256,998  279,353
Incurred in 2012  85,358  87,252
Incurred in 2011  764  1,598
Incurred in 2010  —  1,358

Total not subject to depletion  485,184  369,561

Gross oil and natural gas properties  2,065,571  1,648,360
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment  (241,514)  (210,837)
Oil and natural gas properties, net  1,824,057  1,437,523

Pipeline and gas gathering assets  6,503  6,142
Other property and equipment  4,635  4,071

Less accumulated depreciation  (1,617)  (1,399)
Other property and equipment, net  3,018  2,672

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment  $ 1,833,578  $ 1,446,337

8
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-(Continued)
(Unaudited)

The average depletion rate per barrel equivalent unit of production was $25.19 and $24.50 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Internal costs capitalized to the full cost pool represent management’s estimate of costs incurred directly related to exploration and development activities
such as geological and other administrative costs associated with overseeing the exploration and development activities. All internal costs not directly
associated with exploration and development activities were charged to expense as they were incurred. Capitalized internal costs were approximately
$2,296,000 and $692,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Costs associated with unevaluated properties are excluded from
the full cost pool until the Company has made a determination as to the existence of proved reserves. The inclusion of the Company’s unevaluated costs into
the amortization base is expected to be completed within three to five years.

5.    ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The following table describes the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligation liability for the following periods:

 Three Months Ended
 March 31,
 2014  2013

 (in thousands)
Asset retirement obligation, beginning of period $ 3,029  $ 2,145
Additional liability incurred 214  62
Liabilities acquired 1,294  —
Liabilities settled (10)  —
Accretion expense 72  43
Revisions in estimated liabilities 588  —
Asset retirement obligation, end of period 5,187  2,250
Less current portion 40  20

Asset retirement obligations - long-term $ 5,147  $ 2,230

The Company’s asset retirement obligations primarily relate to the future plugging and abandonment of wells and related facilities. The Company estimates
the future plugging and abandonment costs of wells, the ultimate productive life of the properties, a risk-adjusted discount rate and an inflation factor in order
to determine the current present value of this obligation. To the extent future revisions to these assumptions impact the present value of the existing asset
retirement obligation liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the oil and natural gas property balance.

6.    DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of the dates indicated:

  March 31,  December 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands)
Revolving credit facility  $ 137,000  $ 10,000
7.625 % Senior Notes due 2021  450,000  450,000

Total long-term debt  $ 587,000  $ 460,000

Senior Notes

On September 18, 2013, the Company completed an offering of $450.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.625% senior unsecured notes due 2021 (the
“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes bear interest at the rate of 7.625% per annum, payable semi-annually, in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year,
commencing on April 1, 2014 and will mature on October 1, 2021. The Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries.
The net proceeds from the Senior Notes were used to fund the acquisition of mineral interests underlying approximately 14,804 gross (12,687 net) acres in
Midland County, Texas in the Permian Basin.
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The Senior Notes were issued under, and are governed by, an indenture among the Company, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., as the trustee (the “Indenture”). The Indenture contains certain covenants that, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, among other things, limit
the Company’s ability and the ability of the restricted subsidiaries to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, make certain investments, declare or pay
dividends or make other distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, capital stock, prepay subordinated indebtedness, sell assets including capital stock of
subsidiaries, agree to payment restrictions affecting the Company’s restricted subsidiaries, consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially
all of its assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, incur liens, engage in business other than the oil and gas business and designate certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries. If the Company experiences certain kinds of changes of control or if it sells certain of its assets, holders
of the Senior Notes may have the right to require the Company to repurchase their Senior Notes.

The Company will have the option to redeem the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after October 1, 2016 at the redemption prices
(expressed as percentages of principal amount) of 105.719% for the 12-month period beginning on October 1, 2016, 103.813% for the 12-month period
beginning on October 1, 2017, 101.906% for the 12-month period beginning on October 1, 2018 and 100.000% beginning on October 1, 2019 and at any time
thereafter with any accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the date of redemption. In addition, prior to October 1, 2016, the Company may redeem
all or a part of the Senior Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date, plus
a “make-whole” premium at the redemption date. Furthermore, before October 1, 2016, the Company may, at any time or from time to time, redeem up to
35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes with the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 107.625% of the
principal amount of the Senior Notes being redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption, if at least 65% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Senior Notes originally issued under the Indenture remains outstanding immediately after such redemption and the redemption occurs within
120 days of the closing date of such equity offering.

In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company and the subsidiary guarantors entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the
“Registration Rights Agreement”) with the initial purchasers on September 18, 2013, pursuant to which the Company and the subsidiary guarantors have
agreed to file a registration statement with respect to an offer to exchange the Senior Notes for a new issue of substantially identical debt securities registered
under the Securities Act, which registration statement was filed with the SEC on March 14, 2014. Under the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company
also agreed to use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the exchange offer registration statement to become effective within 360 days after the issue
date of the Senior Notes and to consummate the exchange offer 30 days after effectiveness. The Company may be required to file a shelf registration
statement to cover resales of the Senior Notes under certain circumstances. If the Company fails to satisfy certain of its obligations under the Registration
Rights Agreement, the Company agreed to pay additional interest to the holders of the Senior Notes as specified in the Registration Rights Agreement.

Credit Facility-Wells Fargo Bank

On October 15, 2010, the Company entered into a secured revolving credit agreement with BNP Paribas, or BNP, as the administrative agent, sole book
runner and lead arranger. On May 10, 2012, the revolving credit agreement was amended to provide for the resignation of BNP, and the appointment of Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for the lenders. The credit agreement was amended and restated as of July 24, 2012 and again as of
November 1, 2013. The credit agreement, as so amended and restated, provides for a revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $600 million,
subject to scheduled semi-annual and other elective collateral borrowing base redeterminations based on the Company’s oil and natural gas reserves and other
factors (the “borrowing base”). The borrowing base is scheduled to be re-determined semi-annually with effective dates of April 1st and October 1st. In
addition, the Company may request up to three additional redeterminations of the borrowing base during any 12-month period. As of March 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, the borrowing base was set at $225.0 million. In connection with our April 2014 redetermination, the administrative agent has informed
the Company that it has approved a borrowing base of $450.0 million based on the Company’s current assets. As of March 31, 2014, the Company had
outstanding borrowings of $137.0 million which bore interest at a weighted average rate of 2.16%. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding
borrowings of $10.0 million which bore interest at a weighted average rate of 1.67%.
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The outstanding borrowings under the credit agreement bear interest at a rate elected by the Company that is based on the prime rate or LIBOR plus margins
ranging from 0.50% for prime-based loans and 1.50% for LIBOR loans to 1.50% for prime-based loans and 2.50% for LIBOR loans, in each case depending
on the amount of the loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base. The Company is obligated to pay a quarterly commitment fee ranging from 0.375%
to 0.500% per year on the unused portion of the borrowing base, which fee is also dependent on the amount of the loan outstanding in relation to the
borrowing base. Loan principal may be optionally repaid from time to time without premium or penalty (other than customary LIBOR breakage), and is
required to be paid (a) if the loan amount exceeds the borrowing base, whether due to a borrowing base redetermination or otherwise (in some cases subject to
a cure period) and (b) at the maturity date of November 1, 2018. The loan is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The credit agreement contains various affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants. These covenants, among other things, limit additional
indebtedness, additional liens, sales of assets, mergers and consolidations, dividends and distributions, transactions with affiliates and entering into certain
swap agreements and require the maintenance of the financial ratios described below.

Financial Covenant   Required Ratio
Ratio of total debt to EBITDAX  Not greater than 4.0 to 1.0
Ratio of current assets to liabilities, as defined in the credit agreement  Not less than 1.0 to 1.0

The covenant prohibiting additional indebtedness allows for the issuance of unsecured debt of up to $750 million in the form of senior or senior subordinated
notes and, in connection with any such issuance, the reduction of the borrowing base by 25% of the stated principal amount of each such issuance. A
borrowing base reduction in connection with such issuance may require a portion of the outstanding principal of the loan to be repaid. As of March 31, 2014,
the Company had $450 million of senior unsecured notes outstanding.

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under its revolving credit facility, as then in
effect. The lenders may accelerate all of the indebtedness under the Company’s revolving credit facility upon the occurrence and during the continuance of
any event of default. The credit agreement contains customary events of default, including non-payment, breach of covenants, materially incorrect
representations, cross-default, bankruptcy and change of control. There are no cure periods for events of default due to non-payment of principal and breaches
of negative and financial covenants, but non-payment of interest and breaches of certain affirmative covenants are subject to customary cure periods.

7.    EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings Per Share

The Company’s basic earnings per share amounts have been computed based on the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the
period. A reconciliation of the components of basic and diluted earnings per common share is presented in the table below:

  Three Months Ended March 31, 2014
      Per
  Income  Shares  Share
  (in thousands)     
Basic:       

Net income attributable to common stock  $ 23,589  48,446,609  $ 0.49

Effect of Dilutive Securities:       
Dilutive effect of potential common shares issuable  $ —  420,110   

Diluted:       
Net income attributable to common stock  $ 23,589  48,866,719  $ 0.48
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  Three Months Ended March 31, 2013
      Per
  Income  Shares  Share
  (in thousands)     
Basic:       

Net income attributable to common stock  $ 5,396  37,059,071  $ 0.15

Effect of Dilutive Securities:       
Dilutive effect of potential common shares issuable  $ —  146,619   

Diluted:       
Net income attributable to common stock  $ 5,396  37,205,690  $ 0.15

8.    STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred $3,256,000 and $655,000, respectively, of stock based compensation, of which
the Company capitalized $1,066,000 and $197,000, respectively, pursuant to the full cost method of accounting for oil and natural gas properties.

Stock Options

The following table presents the Company’s stock option activity under the 2012 Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

    Weighted Average   
    Exercise  Remaining  Intrinsic
  Options  Price  Term  Value
      (in years)  (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013  712,955  $ 17.96     

Granted  —  $ —     
Exercised  (114,050)  $ 18.22     
Expired/Forfeited  —  $ —     

Outstanding at March 31, 2014  598,905  $ 17.91  2.41  $ 29,585

Vested and Expected to vest at March 31, 2014  598,905  $ 17.91  2.41  $ 29,585

Exercisable at March 31, 2014  151,655  $ 17.50  1.69  $ 7,554

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options that were exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $5,310,000. As of March 31, 2014, the
unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options was $1,465,000. Such cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
1.5 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table presents the Company’s restricted stock units activity under the 2012 Plan during the three months ended March 31, 2014.
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    Weighted Average
  Restricted Stock  Grant-Date
  Units  Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2013  132,239  $ 19.20

Granted  99,150  $ 61.59
Vested  (31,383)  $ 61.44
Forfeited  —  $ —

Unvested at March 31, 2014  200,006  $ 33.56

The aggregate fair value of restricted stock units that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $2,003,000. As of March 31, 2014, the
Company’s unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock awards and units was $5,619,000. Such cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Performance Based Restricted Stock Units

To provide long-term incentives for the executive officers to deliver competitive returns to the Company’s stockholders, the Company has granted
performance based restricted stock units to eligible employees. The ultimate number of shares awarded from these conditional restricted stock units is based
upon measurement of total stockholder return of the Company’s common stock (“TSR”) as compared to a designated peer group during a three-year
performance period. In February 2014, eligible employees received initial performance restricted stock unit awards totaling 79,150 units from which a
minimum of 0% and a maximum of 200% units could be awarded. The awards have a performance period of January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2015 and cliff
vest at December 31, 2015. There were no performance restricted stock units issued or outstanding during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

The fair value of each performance restricted stock unit is estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation, which results in an expected
percentage of units to be earned during the performance period. The following table presents a summary of the grant-date fair values of performance
restricted stock units granted and the related assumptions.

   2014
Grant-date fair value  $ 125.63
Risk-free rate  0.30%
Company volatility  39.60%

The following table presents the Company’s performance restricted stock units activity under the 2012 Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

   Performance  Weighted Average
   Restricted Stock  Grant-Date
   Units  Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2013  —  $ —
Granted  79,150  $ 125.63
Vested  —  $ —
Forfeited  —  $ —
Unvested at March 31, 2014 (1)  79,150  $ 125.63

(1) A maximum of 158,300 units could be awarded based upon the Company’s final TSR ranking.
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As of March 31, 2014, the Company’s unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock awards and units was $9,470,000. Such cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years.

9.    RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Administrative Services

An entity under common management provided technical, administrative and payroll services to the Company under a shared services agreement which
began March 1, 2008. The initial term of this shared service agreement was two years. Since the expiration of such two-year period on March 1, 2010, the
agreement, by its terms has continued on a month-to-month basis. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred total costs of
$1,000 and $58,000, respectively. Costs incurred unrelated to drilling activities are expensed and costs incurred in the acquisition, exploration and
development of proved oil and natural gas properties have been capitalized. As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company owed the
administrative services affiliate no amounts and $17,000, respectively. These amounts are included in accounts payable-related party in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Effective January 1, 2012, the Company entered into an additional shared services agreement with this entity. Under this agreement, the Company provides
this entity and, at its request, certain affiliates, with consulting, technical and administrative services. The initial term of the additional shared services
agreement was two years. The agreement now continues on a month-to-month basis until canceled by either party upon thirty days prior written notice. Costs
that are attributable to and billed to other affiliates are reported as other income-related party. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the
affiliate reimbursed the Company $30,000 and $389,000, respectively, for services under the shared services agreement. As of March 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, the affiliate owed the Company $13,000 amounts and no amounts, respectively. These amounts are included in accounts receivable-
related party in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Drilling Services

Bison Drilling and Field Services LLC (“Bison”), an entity controlled by Wexford, has performed drilling and field services for the Company under master
drilling and field service agreements. Under the Company’s most recent master drilling agreement with Bison, effective as of January 1, 2013, Bison
committed to accept orders from the Company for the use of at least two of its rigs. At March 31, 2014, Bison was providing drilling services to the Company
using one of its rigs. This master drilling agreement is terminable by either party on 30 days’ prior written notice, although neither party will be relieved of its
respective obligations arising from a drilling contract being performed prior to the termination of the master drilling agreement. The Company incurred total
costs for services performed by Bison of $1,510,000 and $4,968,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company owed
Bison $313,000 as of March 31, 2014 and no amounts as of December 31, 2013.

Effective September 9, 2013, the Company entered into a master service agreement with Panther Drilling Systems LLC (“Panther Drilling”), an entity
controlled by Wexford, Panther Drilling provides directional drilling and other services. This master service agreement is terminable by either party on 30
days’ prior written notice, although neither party will be relieved of its respective obligations arising from work performed prior to the termination of the
master service agreement. In the third quarter 2013, the Company began using Panther Drilling’s directional drilling services. The Company incurred
$248,000 for services performed by Panther Drilling. The Company owed Panther Drilling no amounts as of March 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

Coronado Midstream

The Company is party to a gas purchase agreement, dated May 1, 2009, as amended, with Coronado Midstream LLC (“Coronado Midstream”), formerly
known as MidMar Gas LLC, an entity affiliated with Wexford that owns a gas gathering system and processing plant in the Permian Basin. Under this
agreement, Coronado Midstream is obligated to purchase from the Company, and the Company is obligated to sell to Coronado Midstream, all of the gas
conforming to certain quality specifications produced from certain of the Company’s Permian Basin acreage. Following the expiration of the initial ten year
term, the agreement will continue on a year-to-year basis until terminated by either party on 30 days’ written notice. Under the gas purchase agreement,
Coronado Midstream is obligated to pay the Company 87% of the net revenue received by Coronado Midstream for all components of the Company’s
dedicated gas, including the liquid hydrocarbons, and the sale of residue gas, in each case extracted, recovered or otherwise processed at Coronado
Midstream’s gas processing plant, and 94.56% of the net revenue
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received by Coronado Midstream from the sale of such gas components and residue gas, extracted, recovered or otherwise processed at Chevron’s Headlee
plant. The Company recognized revenues from Coronado Midstream of $3,907,000 and $1,095,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, Coronado Midstream owed the Company $2,285,000 and $1,303,000, respectively, for the
Company’s portion of the net proceeds from the sale of gas, gas products and residue gas.

Sand Supply

Muskie Proppant LLC (“Muskie”), an entity affiliated with Wexford, processes and sells fracing grade sand for oil and natural gas operations. The Company
began purchasing sand from Muskie in March 2013. On May 16, 2013, the Company entered into a master services agreement with Muskie, pursuant to
which Muskie agreed to sell custom natural sand proppant to the Company based on the Company’s requirements. The Company is not obligated to place any
orders with, or accept any offers from, Muskie for sand proppant. The agreement may be terminated at the option of either party on 30 days’ notice. The
Company incurred no costs and costs of $234,000 for sand purchased from Muskie for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
Company owed Muskie no amounts as of March 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

Midland Leases

Effective May 15, 2011, the Company occupied corporate office space in Midland, Texas under a lease with a five-year term. The office space is owned by an
entity controlled by an affiliate of Wexford. The Company paid $93,000 and $38,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively,
under this lease. In the second and third quarters of 2013, the Company amended this agreement to increase the size of the leased premises. The monthly rent
under the lease increased from $13,000 to $15,000 beginning on August 1, 2013 and increased further to $25,000 beginning on October 1, 2013. The monthly
rent will continue to increase approximately 4% annually on June 1 of each year during the remainder of the lease term.

The Company leased field office space in Midland, Texas from an unrelated third party from March 1, 2011 to March 1, 2014. Effective March 1, 2014, the
building was purchased by an entity controlled by an affiliate of Wexford. The remaining term of the lease as of March 1, 2014 is four years. The Company
paid rent of $11,000 to the related party for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The monthly base rent is $11,000 which will increase 3% annually on
March 1 of each year during the remainder of the lease term.

Oklahoma City Lease

Effective January 1, 2012, the Company occupied corporate office space in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma under a lease with a 67 month term. The office space is
owned by an entity controlled by an affiliate of Wexford. The Company paid $64,000 and $53,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, under this lease. Effective April 1, 2013, the Company amended this lease to increase the size of the leased premises, at which time the monthly
base rent increased to $19,000 for the remainder of the lease term. The Company is also responsible for paying a portion of specified costs, fees and expenses
associated with the operation of the premises.

Advisory Services Agreement & Professional Services from Wexford

The Company entered into an advisory services agreement (the “Advisory Services Agreement”) with Wexford, dated as of October 11, 2012, under which
Wexford provides the Company with general financial and strategic advisory services related to the business in return for an annual fee of $500,000, plus
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. The Advisory Services Agreement has a term of two years commencing on October 18, 2012, and will continue for
additional one-year periods unless terminated in writing by either party at least ten days prior to the expiration of the then current term. It may be terminated
at any time by either party upon 30 days prior written notice. In the event the Company terminates such agreement, it is obligated to pay all amounts due
through the remaining term. In addition, the Company agreed to pay Wexford to-be-negotiated market-based fees approved by the Company’s independent
directors for such services as may be provided by Wexford at the Company’s request in connection with future acquisitions and divestitures, financings or
other transactions in which the Company may be involved. The services provided by Wexford under the Advisory Services Agreement do not extend to the
Company’s day-to-day business or operations. The Company has agreed to indemnify Wexford and its affiliates from any and all losses arising out of or in
connection with the Advisory Services Agreement except for losses resulting from Wexford’s or its affiliates’ gross negligence or willful misconduct. The
Company incurred total costs of $125,000 and $125,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, under the Advisory
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Services Agreement. As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company owed Wexford no amounts for either period.

10. DERIVATIVES

All derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value. The Company has not designated its derivative instruments as hedges for accounting purposes
and, as a result, marks its derivative instruments to fair value and recognizes the cash and non-cash changes in fair value in the consolidated statements of
operations under the caption “Loss on derivative instruments, net.”

The Company has used price swap contracts to reduce price volatility associated with certain of its oil sales. With respect to the Company’s fixed price swap
contracts, the counterparty is required to make a payment to the Company if the settlement price for any settlement period is less than the swap price, and the
Company is required to make a payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is greater than the swap price. The Company’s
derivative contracts are based upon reported settlement prices on commodity exchanges, with crude oil derivative settlements based on Argus Louisiana light
sweet pricing or Inter–Continental Exchange (“ICE”) pricing for Brent crude oil. The counterparties to the Company’s derivative contracts are Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A., JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association and The Bank of Nova Scotia who the Company believes are acceptable credit risks.

As of March 31, 2014, the Company had open crude oil derivative positions with respect to future production as set forth in the tables below. When
aggregating multiple contracts, the weighted average contract price is disclosed.

Crude Oil—Argus Louisiana Light Sweet Fixed Price Swap    

Production Period  Volume (Bbls)  Fixed Swap Price
April - December 2014  1,620,000  $ 98.67
January - March 2015  211,000  99.54
     
Crude Oil—ICE Brent Fixed Price Swap    

Production Period  Volume (Bbls)  Fixed Swap Price
April 2014  30,000  $ 109.70

Balance sheet offsetting of derivative assets and liabilities

The fair value of swaps is generally determined using established index prices and other sources which are based upon, among other things, futures prices and
time to maturity. These fair values are recorded by netting asset and liability positions that are with the same counterparty and are subject to contractual terms
which provide for net settlement.

The following tables present the gross amounts of recognized derivative assets and liabilities, the amounts offset under master netting arrangements with
counterparties and the resulting net amounts presented in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
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  March 31, 2014

  (in thousands)

  
Gross Amounts of

Recognized Liabilities  

Gross Amounts Offset in
the Consolidated Balance

Sheet  

Net Amounts of Liabilities
Presented in the

Consolidated Balance
Sheet

Derivative liabilities  $ (3,200)  $ 290  $ (2,910)

  December 31, 2013

  (in thousands)

  
Gross Amounts of
Recognized Assets  

Gross Amounts Offset in
the Consolidated Balance

Sheet  

Net Amounts of Assets
Presented in the

Consolidated Balance
Sheet

Derivative assets  $ 998  $ (567)  $ 431

The net amounts are classified as current or noncurrent based on their anticipated settlement dates. The net fair value of the Company’s derivative assets and
liabilities and their locations on the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

  March 31,  December 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands)
Current Assets: Derivative instruments  $ —  $ 213
Noncurrent Assets: Derivative instruments  —  218

Total Assets  $ —  $ 431

Current Liabilities: Derivative instruments  $ (2,910)  $ —
Noncurrent Liabilities: Derivative instruments  —  —

Total Liabilities  $ (2,910)  $ —

None of the Company’s derivatives have been designated as hedges. As such, all changes in fair value are immediately recognized in earnings. The following
table summarizes the gains and losses on derivative instruments included in the consolidated statements of operations:

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2014  2013  

  (in thousands)  
Non-cash gain (loss) on open non-hedge derivative instruments  $ (3,342)  $ 1,535  
Loss on settlement of non-hedge derivative instruments  (1,056)  (1,543)  

Loss on derivative instruments  $ (4,398)  $ (8)  

11.    FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs.

The fair value hierarchy is based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to
measure fair value. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurements requires judgment and may affect the
valuation of the assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy. The Company uses appropriate
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valuation techniques based on available inputs to measure the fair values of its assets and liabilities.

Level 1 - Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets as of the reporting date.

Level 2 - Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. These are inputs other than quoted prices in
active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data and may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in
management’s best estimate of fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Certain assets and liabilities are reported at fair value on a recurring basis, including the Company’s derivative instruments. The fair values of the Company’s
fixed price crude oil swaps are measured internally using established commodity futures price strips for the underlying commodity provided by a reputable
third party, the contracted notional volumes, and time to maturity. These valuations are Level 2 inputs.

The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013.

   Fair value measurements at March 31, 2014 using:   

  (in thousands)

  
Quoted Prices in Active

Markets Level 1  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

Level 2  

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

 Level 3  Total
Liabilities:         
Fixed price swaps  —  (2,910)  —  (2,910)

   Fair value measurements at December 31, 2013 using:   

  (in thousands)

  
Quoted Prices in Active

Markets Level 1  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

Level 2  

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

 Level 3  Total
Assets:         
Fixed price swaps  $ —  $ 431  $ —  $ 431

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The following table provides the fair value of financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements.
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  March 31, 2014  December 31, 2013
  Carrying    Carrying   
  Amount  Fair Value  Amount  Fair Value

  (in thousands)
Debt:         

Revolving credit facility  $ 137,000  $ 137,000  $ 10,000  $ 10,000
7.625% Senior Notes due 2021  450,000  484,875  450,000  460,406

The fair value of the revolving credit facility approximates its carrying value based on borrowing rates available to the Company for bank loans with similar
terms and maturities and is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the Senior Notes was determined using the March 31, 2014
quoted market price, a Level 1 classification in the fair value hierarchy.

12.    CONTINGENCIES

In September 2010, Windsor Permian LLC (“Windsor Permian”) (now known as Diamondback O&G LLC) purchased certain property in Goodhue County,
Minnesota, that was prospective for hydraulic fracturing grade sand. Prior to the purchase, the prior owners of the property had entered into a Mineral
Development Agreement with the plaintiff and the Company purchased the property subject to that agreement. Windsor Permian subsequently contributed the
property to Muskie. In an amended complaint filed in November 2012 by the plaintiff against the prior owners of the property, Windsor Permian and certain
affiliates of Windsor Permian in the first judicial district court in Goodhue County, Minnesota, the plaintiff sought damages from the Company and the other
defendants alleging, among other things, interference with contractual relationship, interference with prospective advantage and unjust enrichment. In an
order filed on May 24, 2013, the judge denied certain motions made by the defendants and set a trial date to determine liability, with a damage phase of the
matter to commence on a later date if there is a determination of liability. Following a trial on the liability phase on June 21, 2013, the jury determined that the
defendants intentionally interfered with plaintiff’s contract but that the interference did not cause the plaintiff to be unable to acquire mining permits prior to
the enactment of the moratorium by Goodhue County. In an order filed on July 10, 2013, the judge ordered the damage phase to be set for trial following a
pretrial and scheduling conference. Subsequently, the plaintiff disclosed a new damage theory, and the defendants filed motions with the court to dismiss
plaintiff’s claims on the grounds that the damage claim was speculative and that plaintiff could not prove damages as a matter of law. Plaintiff also filed a
motion for leave to amend its complaint to assert a punitive damage claim. The motions were argued in December 2013. In March 2014, the judge entered an
order granting the defendants’ motions to exclude testimony and for summary judgment. All parties agreed not to pursue an appeal from the order and waived
any entitlement to costs, which effectively concluded this matter.

The Company could be subject to various possible loss contingencies which arise primarily from interpretation of federal and state laws and regulations
affecting the natural gas and crude oil industry. Such contingencies include differing interpretations as to the prices at which natural gas and crude oil sales
may be made, the prices at which royalty owners may be paid for production from their leases, environmental issues and other matters. Management believes
it has complied with the various laws and regulations, administrative rulings and interpretations.

13.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On each of April 9, 2014 and April 11, 2014, the Company entered into new commodity contracts with The Bank of Nova Scotia. The contracts are both fixed
price oil swaps that will settle against the weighted average price per barrel of Argus Louisiana light sweet during the calculation period. The following table
presents the terms of the contracts:

    Fixed Swap     
  Volumes (Bbls)  Price  Production Period
Crude Oil—Argus Louisiana Light Sweet Fixed Price
Swap 365,000  $ 100.00  May 2014 - April 2015
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On May 7, 2014, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Viper Energy Partners LP (“Viper”) filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC in
connection with its proposed initial public offering of limited partner interests. At or prior to the closing of this offering, the Company will contribute to Viper
all of the equity interests in the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Viper Energy Partners, LLC (“Energy Partners”), in exchange for limited partner
interests in Viper. Energy Partners’ assets currently consist of mineral interests underlying approximately 14,804 gross (12,687 net) acres in Midland County,
Texas in the Permian Basin, approximately 50% of which are operated by us. Viper intends to distribute the net proceeds from the offering to the Company. A
registration statement relating to these securities has been filed with the SEC but has not yet become effective. These securities may not be sold nor may any
offers to buy be accepted prior to the time the registration statement becomes effective, and this report does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of
any offers to buy these securities.
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ITEM 2.         MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10–Q as well as our audited combined consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our
Annual Report on Form 10–K for the year ended December 31, 2013. The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements” that reflect our future
plans, estimates, beliefs, and expected performance. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those contained in these forward-
looking statements due to a number of factors. See “Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview

We are an independent oil and natural gas company focused on the acquisition, development, exploration and exploitation of unconventional,
onshore oil and natural gas reserves in the Permian Basin in West Texas. Our activities are primarily directed at the Clearfork, Spraberry, Wolfcamp, Cline,
Strawn and Atoka formations which we refer to as the Wolfberry play. We intend to grow our reserves and production through development drilling,
exploitation and exploration activities on our multi-year inventory of identified potential drilling locations and through acquisitions that meet our strategic and
financial objectives, targeting oil-weighted reserves. Substantially all of our revenues are generated through the sale of oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas
production. Our production was approximately 79% oil, 11% natural gas liquids and 10% natural gas for the three months ended March 31, 2014, and was
approximately 70% oil, 17% natural gas liquids and 13% natural gas for the three months ended March 31, 2013. On March 31, 2014, our net acreage
position in the Permian Basin was approximately 72,000 net acres. See Note 1 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report for additional information regarding the organization and description of our business.

Recent Developments

Martin County Acquisition

On February 27 and 28, 2014, we completed acquisitions of oil and natural gas interests from unrelated third party sellers of additional leasehold
interests in Martin County, Texas, in the Permian Basin, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $292.2 million, subject to certain adjustments.
These transactions included 6,450 gross (4,785 net) acres with a 74% working interest (56% net revenue interest) and net production of approximately 2,200
BOE/d (approximately 75% oil) during the first two weeks of February 2014 based on information reported by the operator, from 147 gross (109 net)
producing vertical wells. Net proved reserves, based on our internal estimates as of December 31, 2013, were approximately 7,086 MBOE. Our estimate of
proved reserves is based on our analysis of production data provided by the sellers, as well as available geologic and other data, and we may revise our
estimates in the future. We believe the acreage is prospective for horizontal drilling in the Wolfcamp B, Lower Spraberry, Middle Spraberry, Wolfcamp A,
Cline and Clearfork horizons, and have identified 42 potential horizontal drilling locations in each of the Wolfcamp B and Lower Spraberry horizons based on
160 acre spacing per well (or six across a section) and an aggregate of 112 potential horizontal drilling locations in the Middle Spraberry, Wolfcamp A, Cline
and Clearfork intervals, based on 240 acre spacing per well (or four across a section). We funded these acquisitions with the net proceeds from an
underwritten public offering of our common stock completed on February 26, 2014 and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Upon completion of
these acquisitions, we became the operator of this acquired acreage.

Common stock transaction

In February 2014, we completed an underwritten public offering of 3,450,000 shares of common stock, which included 450,000 shares of common
stock issued pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares granted to the underwriters. The stock was sold to the public at $62.67 per share and we
received net proceeds of approximately $208.4 million from the sale of these shares of common stock, net of offering expenses and underwriting discounts
and commissions.
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Operating Results Overview

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, our average daily production was approximately 13,552 BOE/d, consisting of 10,663 Bbls/d of oil,
7,871 Mcf/d of natural gas and 1,578 Bbls/d of natural gas liquids, an increase of 8,764 BOE/d, or 183%, from average daily production of 4,788 BOE/d for
the three months ended March 31, 2013, consisting of 3,345 Bbls/d of oil, 3,900 Mcf/d of natural gas and 793 Bbls/d of natural gas liquids.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we drilled 29 gross (24 net) wells, and participated in an additional one gross non-operated well, in
the Permian Basin.

Sources of our revenue
Our revenues are derived from the sale of oil and natural gas production, as well as the sale of natural gas liquids that are extracted from our natural

gas during processing. Our oil and natural gas revenues do not include the effects of derivatives. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, our
revenues were derived 92% and 87%, respectively, from oil sales, 5% and 9%, respectively, from natural gas liquids sales and 3% and 4%, respectively, from
natural gas sales. Our revenues may vary significantly from period to period as a result of changes in volumes of production sold, production mix or
commodity prices.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected historical operating data for the periods indicated.

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013
  (unaudited)
  (in thousands, except Bbl, Mcf and BOE amounts)
Operating Results:     
Revenues     

Oil and natural gas revenues  $ 98,004  $ 28,909
Operating Expenses     

Lease operating expense  7,915  4,908
Production and ad valorem taxes  5,842  1,954
Gathering and transportation expense  582  133
Depreciation, depletion and amortization  30,973  10,738
General and administrative  4,557  2,471
Asset retirement obligation accretion expense  72  43

Total expenses  49,941  20,247
Income from operations  48,063  8,662
Net interest expense  (6,505)  (485)
Other income - related party  30  389
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net  (4,398)  (8)
Total other income (expense), net  (10,873)  (104)
Income before income taxes  37,190  8,558
Provision for deferred income taxes  13,601  3,162

Net income  $ 23,589  $ 5,396

Production Data:     
Oil (Bbls)  959,631  301,041
Natural gas (Mcf)  708,419  351,038
Natural gas liquids (Bbls)  142,023  71,329
Combined volumes (BOE)  1,219,724  430,876
Daily combined volumes (BOE/d)  13,552  4,788

Average Prices(1):     
Oil (per Bbl)  $ 93.53  $ 83.89
Natural gas (per Mcf)  4.71  3.28
Natural gas liquids (per Bbl)  34.58  35.12
Combined (per BOE)  80.35  67.09

Average Costs (per BOE)     
Lease operating expense  $ 6.49  $ 11.39
Gathering and transportation expense  0.48  0.31
Production and ad valorem taxes  4.79  4.53
Production and ad valorem taxes as a % of sales  6.0%  6.8%
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  25.39  24.92
General and administrative(2)  3.74  5.73
Interest expense  5.33  1.13

(1)
 

After giving effect to our derivative instruments, the average prices per Bbl of oil and per BOE were $92.43 and $79.48, respectively, during the
three months ended March 31, 2014, and $78.76 and $63.51, respectively, during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

(2)

 

General and administrative includes non-cash stock based compensation, net of capitalized amounts, of $2,190 and $458 for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Excluding stock based compensation from the above metric results in general and administrative cost per
BOE of $1.94 and $4.67 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
Oil, Natural Gas Liquids and Natural Gas Revenues. Our oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas revenues increased by approximately $69,095,000, or

239%, to $98,004,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from $28,909,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. Our revenues are a function
of oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas production volumes sold and average sales prices received for those volumes. Average daily production sold
increased by 8,764 BOE/d to 13,552 BOE/d during the three months ended March 31, 2014 from 4,788 BOE/d during the three months ended March 31,
2013. The total increase in revenue of approximately $69,095,000 is largely attributable to higher oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas production volumes
for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2013. The increases in production volumes were due to a
combination of increased drilling activity and growth through acquisitions. Our production increased by 658,590 Bbls of oil, 70,694 Bbls of natural gas
liquids and 357,381 Mcf of natural gas for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2013. The net dollar
effect of the increases in prices of approximately $10,194,000 (calculated as the change in period-to-period average prices multiplied by current period
production volumes of oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas) and the net dollar effect of the increase in production of approximately $58,901,000 (calculated
as the increase in period-to-period volumes for oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas multiplied by the period average prices) are shown below.

   Change in prices  
Production
volumes(1)  

Total net dollar effect
of change

       (in thousands)
 Effect of changes in price:       
 Oil  $ 9.64  959,631  $ 9,259
 Natural gas liquids  $ (0.54)  142,023  $ (77)
 Natural gas  $ 1.43  708,419  $ 1,012
 Total revenues due to change in price      $ 10,194

   

Change in
production
volumes(1)  

Prior period
Average Prices  

Total net dollar effect
of change

       (in thousands)
 Effect of changes in production volumes:       
 Oil  658,590  $ 83.89  $ 55,246
 Natural gas liquids  70,694  $ 35.12  $ 2,483
 Natural gas  357,381  $ 3.28  $ 1,172

 
Total revenues due to change in production
volumes      $ 58,901

 Total change in revenues      $ 69,095

(1) Production volumes are presented in Bbls for oil and natural gas liquids and Mcf for natural gas

Lease Operating Expense. Lease operating expense, or LOE, was $7,915,000 ($6.49 per BOE) for the three months ended March 31, 2014, an
increase of $3,007,000, or 61%, from $4,908,000 ($11.39 per BOE) for the three months ended March 31, 2013. The increase is due to increased drilling
activity and acquisitions, which resulted in additional producing wells for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2013. On a per BOE basis, LOE declined as new volumes came on line and expenses were held in line or were reduced. By the end of 2013, we
were moving approximately 70% of our produced water by pipeline directly into commercial salt water disposal wells, rather than by truck, thereby further
reducing one of our largest components of LOE.

Production and Ad Valorem Tax Expense. Production and ad valorem taxes increased to $5,842,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from
$1,954,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. In general, production taxes and ad valorem taxes are directly related to commodity price changes;
however, Texas ad valorem taxes are based upon prior year commodity prices, whereas production taxes are based upon current year commodity
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prices. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, our production taxes per BOE increased by $0.55 as compared to the three months ended March 31,
2013, primarily reflecting the impact of higher oil and natural gas prices on production taxes. Our ad valorem taxes have increased primarily as a result of
increased valuations on our properties.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization, or DD&A, expense increased $20,235,000, or 188%, from
$10,738,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2013 to $30,973,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

The following table provides components of our DD&A expense for the periods presented:

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands, except BOE amounts)
Depletion of proved oil and natural gas properties  $ 30,724  $ 10,556
Depreciation of other property and equipment  249  182

DD&A  $ 30,973  $ 10,738

Oil and natural gas properties DD&A per BOE  $ 25.19  $ 24.50
Total DD&A per BOE  $ 25.39  $ 24.92

The increases in depletion of proved oil and natural gas properties of $20,168,000 and $0.69 per BOE for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2013 resulted primarily from higher total production levels, increased net book value on new reserves added
and an increase in capitalized interest to the full cost pool.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense increased $2,086,000 from $2,471,000 for the three months ended March
31, 2013 to $4,557,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The increase was due to increases in stock based compensation, salary, legal, common
stock offering expenses, professional service and advisory service expenses. These increases were partially offset by increases in general and administrative
costs related to exploration and development activity capitalized to the full cost pool and increases in COPAS overhead reimbursements due to increased
drilling activity.

Net Interest Expense. Net interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $6,505,000, as compared to $485,000 for the three months
ended March 31, 2013, an increase of $6,020,000, or 1,241%. This increase was due primarily to the issuance of $450.0 million in aggregate principal amount
of our 7.625% senior notes in September 2013.

Derivatives. We are required to recognize all derivative instruments on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. We have
not designated our derivative instruments as hedges for accounting purposes. As a result, we mark our derivative instruments to fair value and recognize the
cash and non-cash changes in fair value on derivative instruments in our consolidated statements of operations under the line item captioned “Loss on
derivative instruments, net.” For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, we had a cash loss on settlement of derivative instruments of $1,056,000
and $1,543,000, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, we had a non-cash loss on open derivative instruments of $3,342,000 and
a non-cash gain of $1,535,000, respectively.

Income tax expense. We recorded deferred income tax expense of $13,601,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to $3,162,000
for the three months ended March 31, 2013. Our effective tax rate was 36.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to 37.0% for the three
months ended March 31, 2013.

25



Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity have been proceeds from our public equity offerings, borrowings under our revolving credit facility, proceeds from

the issuance of the senior notes and cash flows from operations. Our primary use of capital has been for the acquisition, development and exploration of oil
and natural gas properties. As we pursue reserves and production growth, we regularly consider which capital resources, including equity and debt financings,
are available to meet our future financial obligations, planned capital expenditure activities and liquidity requirements. Our future ability to grow proved
reserves and production will be highly dependent on the capital resources available to us.

Liquidity and cash flow
Our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are presented below:

  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 71,466  $ 16,855
Net cash used in investing activities  (399,184)  (74,094)
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 337,477  $ 36,397

Net change in cash  $ 9,759  $ (20,842)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $71,466,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to $16,855,000 for the three
months ended March 31, 2013. The increase in operating cash flows is a result of increases in our oil and natural gas revenues due to production growth and
lower expenses in 2014.

Our operating cash flow is sensitive to many variables, the most significant of which is the volatility of prices for the oil and natural gas we produce.
Prices for these commodities are determined primarily by prevailing market conditions. Regional and worldwide economic activity, weather and other
substantially variable factors influence market conditions for these products. These factors are beyond our control and are difficult to predict.

Investing Activities

The purchase and development of oil and natural gas properties accounted for the majority of our cash outlays for investing activities. We used cash
for investing activities of $399,184,000 and $74,094,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we spent $86,393,000 on capital expenditures in conjunction with our infrastructure projects and
drilling program, in which we drilled 29 gross (24 net) wells and participated in the drilling of an additional one gross non-operated well. We spent an
additional $312,207,000 on leasehold costs, $595,000 for the purchase of other property and equipment. On February 27 and 28, 2014, we completed
acquisitions of additional oil and natural gas leasehold interests in Martin County, Texas, in the Permian Basin, from unrelated third party sellers for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $292.2 million, subject to certain adjustments. These amounts were partially offset by proceeds of $11,000 from
the sale of property and equipment.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we spent $53,997,000 on capital expenditures in conjunction with our drilling program in which we
participated in the drilling of 19 gross (17 net) wells. We spent an additional $965,000 on leasehold costs, $302,000 for the purchase of other property and
equipment, $289,000, net, on the settlement of non-hedge derivative instruments and $18,550,000 for the post-closing adjustment associated with our
acquisition of Gulfport Energy Corporation’s oil and natural gas assets in the Permian Basin in connection with our initial public offering in October 2012.
These amounts were partially offset by proceeds of $9,000 from the sale of property and equipment.

Our investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are summarized in the following table:
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  Three Months Ended March 31,
  2014  2013

  (in thousands)
Drilling, completion and infrastructure  $ (86,393)  $ (53,997)
Acquisition of leasehold interests  (312,207)  (965)
Acquisition of Gulfport properties  —  (18,550)
Purchase of other property and equipment  (595)  (302)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  11  9
Settlement of non-hedge derivative instruments  —  (289)

Net cash used in investing activities  $ (399,184)  $ (74,094)

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $337,477,000 as compared to $36,397,000 during the same
period in 2013. The 2014 amount provided by financing activities was primarily attributable to the net proceeds of $208.4 million from our February 2014
equity offering and borrowings of $127.0 million under our credit facility. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we borrowed $36.5 million under
our revolving credit facility. In both periods, these proceeds were used primarily to acquire property and fund our drilling costs.

Senior Notes

On September 18, 2013, we completed an offering of $450.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.625% senior unsecured notes due 2021,
which we refer to as the senior notes. The senior notes bear interest at the rate of 7.625% per annum, payable semi-annually, in arrears on April 1 and October
1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2014, and will mature on October 1, 2021. The senior notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by our
subsidiaries. The net proceeds from the senior notes were used to fund the acquisition of mineral interests underlying approximately 14,804 gross (12,687 net)
acres in Midland County, Texas in the Permian Basin. The senior notes were issued to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the
Securities Act and to certain non-U.S. persons in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The senior notes were issued under, and are governed by, an indenture among us, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., as the trustee, or the Indenture. We may issue additional senior notes under the Indenture, and all senior notes issued under the Indenture will constitute
part of a single class of securities for all purposes of the Indenture. On November 5, 2013, we supplemented the Indenture by the first supplemental indenture
thereto to add a subsidiary guarantor of the senior notes. The Indenture contains certain covenants that, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, among
other things, limit our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, make certain investments, declare or
pay dividends or make other distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, capital stock, prepay subordinated indebtedness, sell assets including capital stock of
subsidiaries, agree to payment restrictions affecting our restricted subsidiaries, consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our
assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, incur liens, engage in business other than the oil and gas business and designate certain of our subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries. If we experience certain kinds of changes of control or if we sell certain of our assets, holders of the senior notes may have the right
to require us to repurchase their senior notes.

We have the option to redeem the senior notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after October 1, 2016 at the redemption prices (expressed as
percentages of principal amount) of 105.719% for the 12-month period beginning on October 1, 2016, 103.813% for the 12-month period beginning on
October 1, 2017, 101.906% for the 12-month period beginning on October 1, 2018 and 100.000% beginning on October 1, 2019 and at any time thereafter
with any accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the date of redemption. In addition, prior to October 1, 2016, we may redeem all or a part of the
senior notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date, plus a “make-whole”
premium at the redemption date. Furthermore, before October 1, 2016, we may, at any time or from time to time, redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the senior notes with the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 107.625% of the principal amount of the senior
notes being redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption, if at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes
originally issued under the Indenture remains outstanding immediately after such redemption and the redemption occurs within 120 days of the closing date
of such equity offering.
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In connection with the issuance of the senior notes, we and the subsidiary guarantors entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial
purchasers on September 18, 2013, pursuant to which we and the subsidiary guarantors have agreed to file a registration statement with respect to an offer to
exchange the senior notes for a new issue of substantially identical debt securities registered under the Securities Act, which registration statement was filed
with the SEC on March 14, 2014. Under the registration rights agreement, we also agreed to use our commercially reasonable efforts to cause the exchange
offer registration statement to become effective within 360 days after the issue date of the senior notes and to consummate the exchange offer 30 days after
effectiveness. We may be required to file a shelf registration statement to cover resales of the senior notes under certain circumstances. If we fail to satisfy
certain of our obligations under the registration rights agreement, we agreed to pay additional interest to the holders of the senior notes as specified in the
registration rights agreement.

Second Amended and Restated Credit Facility

On October 15, 2010, we entered into a secured revolving credit agreement with BNP Paribas, or BNP, as the administrative agent, sole book runner
and lead arranger. On May 10, 2012, the revolving credit agreement was amended to provide for the resignation of BNP, and the appointment of Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for the lenders. The credit agreement was amended and restated as of July 24, 2012 and again as of
November 1, 2013. The credit agreement, as so amended and restated, provides for a revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $600 million,
subject to scheduled semi-annual and other elective collateral borrowing base redeterminations based on our oil and natural gas reserves and other factors (the
“borrowing base”). The borrowing base is scheduled to be re-determined semi-annually with effective dates of April 1st and October 1st. In addition, we may
request up to three additional redeterminations of the borrowing base during any 12-month period. As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the
borrowing base was set at $225.0 million. In connection with our April 2014 redetermination, the administrative agent has informed us that it has approved a
borrowing base of $450.0 million based on our current assets. As of March 31, 2014, we had outstanding borrowings of $137.0 million which bore interest at
a weighted average rate of 2.16%. As of December 31, 2013, we had outstanding borrowings of $10.0 million which bore interest at a weighted average rate
of 1.67%.

The outstanding borrowings under the credit agreement bear interest at a rate elected by us that is based on the prime rate or LIBOR plus margins
ranging from 0.50% for prime-based loans and 1.50% for LIBOR loans to 1.50% for prime-based loans and 2.50% for LIBOR loans, in each case depending
on the amount of the loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base. We are obligated to pay a quarterly commitment fee ranging from 0.375% to 0.50%
per year on the unused portion of the borrowing base, which fee is also dependent on the amount of the loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base.
Loan principal may be optionally repaid from time to time without premium or penalty (other than customary LIBOR breakage), and is required to be repaid
(a) to the extent the loan amount exceeds the borrowing base, whether due to a borrowing base redetermination or otherwise (in some cases subject to a cure
period), (b) in an amount equal to the net cash proceeds from the sale of property when a borrowing base deficiency or event of default exists under the credit
agreement and (c) at the maturity date of November 1, 2018. The loan is secured by substantially all of our assets.

The credit agreement contains various affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants. These covenants, among other things, limit additional
indebtedness, additional liens, sales of assets, mergers and consolidations, dividends and distributions, transactions with affiliates and entering into certain
swap agreements and require the maintenance of the financial ratios described below.

Financial Covenant   Required Ratio
Ratio of total debt to EBITDAX  Not greater than 4.0 to 1.0
Ratio of current assets to liabilities, as defined in the credit agreement  Not less than 1.0 to 1.0

The covenant prohibiting additional indebtedness allows for the issuance of unsecured debt of up to $750 million in the form of senior or senior
subordinated notes and, in connection with any such issuance, the reduction of the borrowing base by 25% of the stated principal amount of each such
issuance. A borrowing base reduction in connection with such issuance may require a portion of the outstanding principal of the loan to be repaid. As of
March 31, 2014, we had $450 million of senior notes outstanding.

As of March 31, 2014, we were in compliance with all financial covenants under our revolving credit facility. The lenders may accelerate all of the
indebtedness under our revolving credit facility upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any event of default. The credit agreement contains
customary events of default, including non-payment, breach of covenants, materially incorrect representations, cross-default, bankruptcy and
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change of control. With certain specified exceptions, the terms and provisions of our revolving credit facility generally may be amended with the consent of
the lenders holding a majority of the outstanding loans or commitments to lend.

Capital Requirements and Sources of Liquidity
We currently anticipate our 2014 capital budget for drilling and infrastructure will be approximately $425.0 million to $475.0 million, representing

an increase of 48% over 2013. We estimate that, of these expenditures, approximately:

• 85% will be spent on 65 to 75 gross (52 to 60 net) operated horizontal wells focused in Midland, Andrews, Upton, Martin and Dawson Counties;

• 8% will be spent on 20 to 25 gross (16 to 20 net) operated vertical wells focused in Midland County;

• 5% will be spent on infrastructure; and

• 2% will be spent on non-operated drilling.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, our aggregate capital expenditures for drilling and infrastructure were $86.4 million. We do not have
a specific acquisition budget since the timing and size of acquisitions cannot be accurately forecasted. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we
spent $312.2 million on acquisitions.     

The amount and timing of these capital expenditures is largely discretionary and within our control. We could choose to defer a portion of these
planned capital expenditures depending on a variety of factors, including but not limited to the success of our drilling activities, prevailing and anticipated
prices for oil and natural gas, the availability of necessary equipment, infrastructure and capital, the receipt and timing of required regulatory permits and
approvals, seasonal conditions, drilling and acquisition costs and the level of participation by other interest owners.

Based upon current oil and natural gas price expectations for 2014, we believe that our cash flow from operations and borrowings under our
revolving credit facility will be sufficient to fund our operations through year-end 2014. However, future cash flows are subject to a number of variables,
including the level of oil and natural gas production and prices, and significant additional capital expenditures will be required to more fully develop our
properties. Further, our 2014 capital expenditure budget does not allocate any funds for leasehold interest and property acquisitions.

We monitor and adjust our projected capital expenditures in response to success or lack of success in drilling activities, changes in prices, availability
of financing, drilling and acquisition costs, industry conditions, the timing of regulatory approvals, the availability of rigs, contractual obligations, internally
generated cash flow and other factors both within and outside our control. If we require additional capital, we may seek such capital through traditional
reserve base borrowings, joint venture partnerships, production payment financing, asset sales, offerings of debt and or equity securities or other means. We
cannot assure you that the needed capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable to obtain funds when needed or on acceptable terms,
we may be required to curtail our drilling programs, which could result in a loss of acreage through lease expirations. In addition, we may not be able to
complete acquisitions that may be favorable to us or finance the capital expenditures necessary to replace our reserves. On May 7, 2014, our wholly-owned
subsidiary Viper Energy Partners LP, or Viper, filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC in connection with its proposed initial public offering
of limited partner interests. At or prior to the closing of this offering, we will contribute to Viper all of the equity interests in our wholly-owned subsidiary
Viper Energy Partners, LLC, or Energy Partners in exchange for limited partner interests in Viper. Energy Partners’ assets currently consist of mineral
interests underlying approximately 14,804 gross (12,687 net) acres in Midland County, Texas in the Permian Basin, approximately 50% of which are operated
by us. Viper intends to distribute the net proceeds from the offering to us. A registration statement relating to these securities has been filed with the SEC but
has not yet become effective. These securities may not be sold nor may any offers to buy be accepted prior to the time the registration statement becomes
effective, and this report does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of any offers to buy these securities.
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Critical Accounting Policies

There have been no changes in our critical accounting policies from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2014.

Contractual Obligations

There were no material changes in our contractual obligations and other commitments, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013.
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ITEM 3.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Commodity Price Risk

Our major market risk exposure is in the pricing applicable to our oil and natural gas production. Realized pricing is primarily driven by the
prevailing worldwide price for crude oil and spot market prices applicable to our natural gas production. Pricing for oil and natural gas production has been
volatile and unpredictable for several years, and we expect this volatility to continue in the future. The prices we receive for production depend on many
factors outside of our control.

We use price swap derivatives to reduce price volatility associated with certain of our oil sales. With respect to these fixed price swap contracts, the
counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the settlement price for any settlement period is less than the swap price, and we are required to make a
payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is greater than the swap price. Our derivative contracts are based upon reported
settlement prices on commodity exchanges, with crude oil derivative settlements based on Argus Louisiana light sweet pricing or Inter–Continental
Exchange, or ICE, pricing for Brent crude oil.

At March 31, 2014, we had a net liability derivative position of $2,910,000, related to our ICE Brent and Argus Louisiana Light Sweet fixed price
swaps, as compared to a net asset derivative position of $431,000 as of December 31, 2013 related to our price swap derivatives. Utilizing actual derivative
contractual volumes under our fixed price swaps as of March 31, 2014, a 10% increase in forward curves associated with the underlying commodity would
have increased the net liability derivative position by $18,694,000 to $21,604,000, while a 10% decrease in forward curves associated with the underlying
commodity would have decreased the net liability derivative position into a net derivative asset position of $15,784,000 a decrease of $18,694,000. However,
any cash derivative gain or loss would be substantially offset by a decrease or increase, respectively, in the actual sales value of production covered by the
derivative instrument. In April 2014, we entered into additional fixed price swaps, with The Bank of Nova Scotia. See Note13 – “Subsequent Events” to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for a description of these additional derivative contracts.

Counterparty and Customer Credit Risk

Our principal exposures to credit risk are through receivables resulting from joint interest receivables (approximately $14,785,000 at March 31,
2014) and receivables from the sale of our oil and natural gas production (approximately $38,360,000 at March 31, 2014).

We are subject to credit risk due to the concentration of our oil and natural gas receivables with several significant customers. We do not require our
customers to post collateral, and the inability of our significant customers to meet their obligations to us or their insolvency or liquidation may adversely
affect our financial results. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, two purchasers accounted for more than 10% of our revenue: Shell Trading (US)
Company (66%); and Plains Marketing, L.P. (16%). For the year ended December 31, 2013, two purchasers accounted for more than 10% of our revenue:
Plains Marketing, L.P. (37%); and Shell Trading (US) Company (37%). No other customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenue during these periods.

Joint operations receivables arise from billings to entities that own partial interests in the wells we operate. These entities participate in our wells
primarily based on their ownership in leases on which we intend to drill. We have little ability to control whether these entities will participate in our wells. At
March 31, 2014, we had one customer that represented approximately 69% of our total joint operations receivables. At December 31, 2013, we had one
customer that represented approximately 86% of our total joint operations receivables.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to market risk exposure related to changes in interest rates on our indebtedness under our revolving credit facility. The terms of our
revolving credit facility provide for interest on borrowings at a floating rate equal to prime, LIBOR or federal funds rate plus margins ranging from 0.5% to
2.50% depending on the base rate used and the amount of the loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base. As of March 31, 2014, the weighted average
interest rate on our borrowings was 2.16%. An increase or decrease of 1% in the interest rate would have a corresponding decrease or increase in our net
income of approximately $1,370,000 based on the $137,000,000 outstanding in the aggregate under our revolving credit facility on March 31, 2014.
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ITEM 4.          CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Control and Procedures

Under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have established disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. The disclosure controls and procedures are also intended to ensure that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure
controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits
of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

As of March 31, 2014, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b)
under the Exchange Act. Based upon our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of March 31, 2014, our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2014 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In September 2010, Windsor Permian LLC (“Windsor Permian”) (now known as Diamondback O&G LLC) purchased certain property in Goodhue
County, Minnesota, that was prospective for hydraulic fracturing grade sand. Prior to the purchase, the prior owners of the property had entered into a Mineral
Development Agreement with the plaintiff and the Company purchased the property subject to that agreement. Windsor Permian subsequently contributed the
property to Muskie. In an amended complaint filed in November 2012 by the plaintiff against the prior owners of the property, Windsor Permian and certain
affiliates of Windsor Permian in the first judicial district court in Goodhue County, Minnesota, the plaintiff sought damages from the Company and the other
defendants alleging, among other things, interference with contractual relationship, interference with prospective advantage and unjust enrichment. In an
order filed on May 24, 2013, the judge denied certain motions made by the defendants and set a trial date to determine liability, with a damage phase of the
matter to commence on a later date if there is a determination of liability. Following a trial on the liability phase on June 21, 2013, the jury determined that the
defendants intentionally interfered with plaintiff’s contract but that the interference did not cause the plaintiff to be unable to acquire mining permits prior to
the enactment of the moratorium by Goodhue County. In an order filed on July 10, 2013, the judge ordered the damage phase to be set for trial following a
pretrial and scheduling conference. Subsequently, the plaintiff disclosed a new damage theory, and the defendants filed motions with the court to dismiss
plaintiff’s claims on the grounds that the damage claim was speculative and that plaintiff could not prove damages as a matter of law. Plaintiff also filed a
motion for leave to amend its complaint to assert a punitive damage claim. The motions were argued in December 2013. In March 2014, the judge entered an
order granting the defendants’ motions to exclude testimony and for summary judgment. All parties agreed not to pursue an appeal from the order and waived
any entitlement to costs, which effectively concluded this matter.

Due to the nature of our business, we are, from time to time, involved in routine litigation or subject to disputes or claims related to our business
activities, including workers’ compensation claims and employment related disputes. In the opinion of our management, none of the pending litigation,
disputes or claims against us, if decided adversely, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results of operations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Our business faces many risks. Any of the risks discussed in this Form 10-Q and our other SEC filings could have a material impact on our business,
financial position or results of operations. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also
impair our business operations.

In addition to the information set forth in this Form 10–Q, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in
our Annual Report on Form 10–K for the year ended December 31, 2013. There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those described in our
Annual Report on Form 10–K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

ITEM 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a)    Not applicable.

(b)    Not applicable.

(c)    We do not have a share repurchase program, and during the three months ended March 31, 2014, we did not purchase any shares of our common stock.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
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Not applicable.

ITEM 5.    OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number
 

Description
 

2.1#

 

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated February 14, 2014, between Henry Resources LLC, Henry Production LLC, Henry Taw
Production LP, Davlin LP, Good Providence LP, William R. Fair, UTH Investments LTD, Paloma Oil & Ranch LP, Chinati Oil &
Ranch LP, J. Craig Corbett, Bambana Resources LP, and FC Permian Properties, Inc., as Sellers, and Diamondback E&P LLC, as
Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on
February 18, 2014).

 
2.2#

 

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated February 14, 2014, between Henry Resources LLC, Henry Production LLC, Henry Taw
Production LP, Davlin LP, Good Providence LP, William R. Fair, UTH Investments LTD, Paloma Oil & Ranch LP, Chinati Oil &
Ranch LP, J. Craig Corbett, Bambana Resources LP, FC Permian Properties, Inc., Blake Braun, Richard D. Campbell, and
Thomas J. Woodside, as Sellers, and Diamondback E&P LLC, as Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Form 8-
K, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on February 18, 2014).

 
3.1

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 10-Q,
File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on November 16, 2012).

 
3.2

 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35700,
filed by the Company with the SEC on November 16, 2012).

 
4.1

 

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-179502, filed by the Company with the SEC on
August 20, 2012).

 
4.2

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2012, by and between the Company and DB Energy Holdings LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on
November 16, 2012).

 
4.3

 

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2012, by and between the Company and Gulfport Energy Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on
November 16, 2012).

 
4.4

 

Indenture, dated as of September 18, 2013, among Diamondback Energy, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wells
Fargo, N.A., as trustee (including the form of Diamondback Energy, Inc.’s 7.625% Senior Note due October 2021 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on September 18, 2013).

 
4.5

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 5, 2013, by and between Diamondback Energy, the subsidiary guarantors
party thereto and Wells Fargo, N.A, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Form 10-K, File No. 001-35700,
filed by the Company with the SEC on February 19, 2014).

 
4.6

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2013, among Diamondback Energy, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors
party thereto and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as representative of the several initial purchasers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on September 18, 2013).

 
10.1+

 

2014 Executive Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-
35700, filed by the Company with the SEC on April 2, 2014).
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Exhibit Number
 

Description
 

10.2+*

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated April 24, 2014, effective as of April 18, 2014, by and between Travis D.
Stice and Diamondback E&P LLC.

 
10.3+

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2014, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between
Teresa Dick and Diamondback E&P LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700, filed
by the Company with the SEC on March 5, 2014).

 
10.4+

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2014, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between
Michael Hollis and Diamondback E&P LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700,
filed by the Company with the SEC on March 5, 2014).

 
10.5+

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2014, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between
Jeff White and Diamondback E&P LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 8-K, File No. 001-35700, filed by
the Company with the SEC on March 5, 2014).

 
10.6+*

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2014, effective as of January 1, 2014, by and between
Russell Pantermuehl and Diamondback E&P LLC.

 
31.1*

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

 
31.2*

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

 
32.1++

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

 
32.2++

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

  
101.INS**

 
XBRL Instance Document.

  
101.SCH**

 
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

  
101.CAL**

 
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

  
101.DEF**

 
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

  
101.LAB**

 
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.

  
101.PRE**

 
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

  
_______________

# The schedules (or similar attachments) referenced in this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A
copy of any omitted schedule (or similar attachment) will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith. Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are being furnished herewith and are not deemed filed or
part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are not deemed filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under these sections.

+ Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

++ The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

35



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

   DIAMONDBACK ENERGY, INC.
   

Date: May 9, 2014   
   /s/ Travis D. Stice
   Travis D. Stice
   Chief Executive Officer
   

   /s/ Teresa L. Dick
   Teresa L. Dick
   Chief Financial Officer
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TRAVIS STICE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of April 18, 2014 by
and between Diamondback E&P LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), and Travis Stice (“you” or
“Employee”).

1. Term of Employment. Subject to the provisions for termination provided in Section 9, the term of Employee’s
employment under this Agreement will continue as of April 18, 2014 (the “Effective Date”) and will terminate on the third
anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Period”); provided, however, that unless either party gives written notice to the other
party of an election not to extend or renew Employee’s employment hereunder at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Initial
Period, or any anniversary thereof, the term of this Agreement automatically will be extended by successive one-year periods (each
an “Extension”). The term of this Agreement, including the Initial Period and any Extension, is hereinafter referred to as the
“Term.”

2.    Compensation.

(a)    Base Salary. During the Term, you will be compensated for all services rendered by you under this Agreement
at the rate of $725,000 per annum (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary will be payable in such manner as is consistent with the
Company’s payroll practices for executive employees and subject to the usual, required withholding. From time to time at the sole
discretion of the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
Diamondback Energy, Inc. (“Diamondback Energy”), Employee’s Base Salary may be reviewed by the Compensation Committee
and/or the Board and may be increased, but not decreased, by the Compensation Committee or the Board in their sole discretion.
The term “Base Salary” as used herein means and refers to the then current base salary, as adjusted from time to time in accordance
with this Section 2(a). The Company may deduct from the Base Salary amounts sufficient to cover applicable federal, state and/or
local income tax withholdings and any other amounts which the Company is required to withhold by applicable law.

(b)    Annual Bonus. During the Term, you will be eligible to receive an annual bonus in accordance with the
Company’s bonus policy as established by the Compensation Committee or the Board from time to time (the “Annual Bonus”).
The Annual Bonus will be determined by the Compensation Committee or the Board based upon your achievement of performance
goals as determined by the Compensation Committee or the Board for each fiscal year of the Company. You will be eligible to
receive a target Annual Bonus of 100% of your Base Salary subject to your achievement of such performance goals up to a
maximum of 200% of your Base Salary. The Compensation Committee or the Board may establish threshold performance goals
and Annual Bonus amounts that are less than the target Annual Bonus amount, but no amount of Annual Bonus will be paid for
performance results below the threshold performance goals. Performance goals may include a level of performance below which no
payment will be made and levels of performance at which specified percentages of the target Annual Bonus award will be paid as
well as a maximum level of performance above which no additional Annual Bonus will be paid. The Annual Bonus will be paid
within fifteen (15) business days after the later of: (i) the written certification by the Compensation Committee of the achievement
of the performance goals; and



(ii) completion and release of the audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year; provided, however, subject to, and
except as provided in Section 9 of this Agreement, you must still be employed by the Company on the payment date to receive the
Annual Bonus. The Company may satisfy the Annual Bonus under this Agreement, by means of an award under any annual bonus
or cash incentive compensation plan it maintains or may in the future adopt for its executives and any such award may be subject to
additional terms and conditions under the terms of such plan. The Company will have the right to condition the payment of any
Annual Bonus amounts on your execution of a document reasonably acceptable to the Company pursuant to which you confirm,
ratify and agree that this Agreement and all of its provisions are valid and binding and are enforceable against you in accordance
with their terms.

(c)    Equity Awards. In addition to the Base Salary and Annual Bonus, you will be eligible, for each fiscal year of
the Company ending during the Term, to participate in the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan or such other equity incentive
plan or plans then in existence for the benefit of employees, and may in the discretion of the Compensation Committee receive an
equity award (an “Equity Award”), in accordance with the terms of such plan or plans. The timing and amount of such Equity
Awards, any target performance goals and the vesting terms of such awards will be determined by the Compensation Committee in
its sole discretion. Any Equity Awards will be pursuant to and will incorporate all terms and conditions of the Company’s 2012
Stock Incentive Plan or such other equity incentive plan or plans then in existence for the benefit of employees, as applicable, and
the Company’s then standard form of award agreement. The terms of each Equity Award granted to Executive will provide that
such Equity Award will become 100% vested upon the occurrence of a (i) No Cause Termination, (ii) Good Reason Resignation,
(iii) death or Disability or (iv) Change in Control (as defined in the Diamondback Energy, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan or any
successor plan). Without creating any legally enforceable obligation, it is the intention of the parties that Executive may be eligible
for annual equity awards that provide a target award of approximately $1,500,000 per year, subject to the discretion of the
Compensation Committee to determine whether or not to make any such awards, whether any awards should be a greater or lesser
amount and to determine the terms and conditions of any such awards, including performance based or time based vesting
provisions.

3.    Duties.

(a)    You will serve as Chief Executive Officer of Diamondback Energy and will be subject to the general
supervision and control of the Board and/or such other member or members of the Board as the Board may designate with notice
thereof to you, and will provide such services customarily expected of such office and as may be reasonably requested by the Board
(or its designee) from time to time. Your principal office will be located in Midland, Texas.

(b)    During the Term, you will devote your full business time, energies and attention to the business and affairs of
Diamondback Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Diamondback Group” or the “Diamondback Companies” and each
of them, individually, a “Diamondback Company”), and you may not engage in any other business activities; provided, however,
that you may be permitted to engage in such charitable and other activities as do not
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interfere with the performance of your duties under this Agreement and are approved in writing by the Board.

(c)    You will: (i) provide services hereunder to the best of your skills and ability and in an efficient manner and
devote such time and effort to the business and affairs of the Company as necessary or advisable to perform your duties hereunder;
(ii) act in a manner which you in good faith believe is in the best interests of the Company; (iii) implement any business plan
adopted by the Company and then in effect; (iv) perform your duties hereunder, including without limitation any duties reasonably
assigned to you by the Company, in good faith; (v) keep the Company reasonably informed on all matters that are material to the
Company; (vi) be subject to, and comply with, the Company’s and the Diamondback Group’s rules, practices and policies
applicable to executive employees as reflected in the employee handbook, codes of conduct, compliance policies or otherwise, as
may be amended from time to time; and (vii) cause the Company to comply with all applicable laws and regulations and monitor
the development, maintenance, operation and management of the business of the Company to ensure such development,
maintenance, operation and management complies with all applicable laws.

4.    Benefits. You will be entitled to thirty (30) days of paid time off per calendar year. You also will have the benefit of
such life and medical insurance plans and other similar plans as the Diamondback Group may have or may establish from time to
time for its executive employees generally, subject to satisfaction of applicable eligibility requirements. The foregoing, however,
will not be construed to require any Diamondback Company to establish any such plans or to prevent any Diamondback Company
from modifying or terminating any such plans, and no such action or failure thereof will affect this Agreement.

5.    Expenses. The Company will reimburse you, in accordance with the Company’s policies, for reasonable expenses
incurred by you in the ordinary course in connection with the business of the Diamondback Group upon the presentation by you of
appropriate substantiation for such expenses.

6.    Restrictive Covenants.

(a)    Subject to Section 6. (b) below, from the Effective Date until the later of the termination of your employment
with, engagement as a consultant of, or other affiliation with, any Diamondback Company, and for a period ending on the date that
is six (6) months thereafter (such period, the “Restricted Period”), neither you nor any of your affiliates may, without the written
consent of the Board, at any time or in any manner, either directly or indirectly, become associated with, render services to, invest
in, represent, advise or otherwise participate as an officer, employee, director, stockholder, partner, member, agent of or consultant
for any company, business, organization or other legal or natural person that engages or participates in the Restricted Business;
provided, however, that nothing herein will prevent you from acquiring up to two percent (2%) of the securities of any company
listed on a national securities exchange or quoted on the NASDAQ quotation system, provided your involvement with any such
company is solely that of a passive stockholder. For purposes of this Agreement, “Restricted Business” means (i) the oil and gas
exploration and production business in Texas, Oklahoma and New Mexico and each other area, location or field in which the
Diamondback Group conducts or is preparing to conduct business
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during the Term or (ii) any other business or operation that is in competition with any business or operations managed or operated
by or under consideration or in development by any Diamondback Company during the Term. The foregoing covenants in this
Section 6(a) will not apply in connection with a Good Reason Termination (as defined below) that occurs within 12 months after
the occurrence of a “change in control event” (as such term is defined in Treas. Regs. §1.409A-3(i)(5)).

(b)    The parties hereto intend that the covenant contained in this Section 6 will be deemed a series of separate
covenants for each state, county and city in which the Diamondback Group’s business is conducted or is preparing to be conducted.
If, in any judicial proceeding, a court refuses to enforce all of the separate covenants deemed included in this Section 6 because,
taken together, they cover too extensive a geographic area, the parties intend that those covenants (taken in order of the states,
counties and cities therein which are least populous), which if eliminated would permit the remaining separate covenants to be
enforced in such proceeding, for the purpose of such proceeding, will be deemed eliminated from the provisions of this Section 6.

7.    Confidentiality, Non-Interference, Proprietary Information and Non-Solicitation.

(a)    Confidentiality. In the course of your employment by the Diamondback Companies, you have had, and/or will
have, access to confidential or proprietary data or information of the Diamondback Group, any affiliates of the foregoing and their
respective businesses (collectively the “Diamondback Parties” and each of them individually, a “Diamondback Party,” which
for the avoidance of doubt will include the Diamondback Group). You will not at any time during or after your employment divulge
or communicate to any person (which term, for purposes of this Agreement, includes both persons or entities) nor will you direct
any Diamondback Group employee to divulge or communicate to any person (other than to a person bound by confidentiality
obligations similar to those contained herein and other than as necessary in performing your duties hereunder), or use to the
detriment of the Diamondback Parties or for the benefit of any other person, any of such data or information. No business
conducted by you or any organization of which you, directly or indirectly, are an owner, partner, manager, joint venturer, director,
officer, manager or otherwise a participant in or connected with in any locality, state or country in which the Diamondback Parties
conduct business may use any name, designation or logo which is substantially similar to that presently used by any Diamondback
Party. The term “confidential or proprietary data or information” as used in this Agreement means any information not generally
available to the public or generally known within the applicable Diamondback Party’s industry, including, without limitation,
personnel information, financial information, customer lists or contacts, supplier lists, strategy and plans, information regarding
operations, systems, services, know-how, computer and any other processed or collated data, trade secrets (including, without
limitation, software), computer programs, pricing, marketing and advertising data.

(b)    Non-Interference. You agree that, during the Restricted Period, you will not, at any time or in any manner,
either directly or indirectly, for your own account or for the account of any other person, interfere with any Diamondback Party’s
relationship with any of its employees, suppliers or regulators.
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(c)    Proprietary Information and Disclosure. You agree that you will at all times promptly disclose to the
Company, in such form and manner as the Company may require, any inventions, improvements or procedural or methodological
innovations, program methods, forms, systems, services, designs, marketing ideas, products or processes (whether or not capable of
being trademarked, copyrighted or patented) conceived or developed or created by you during or in connection with your
employment hereunder and which relate to the business of any Diamondback Party (“Intellectual Property”). You agree that all
such Intellectual Property constitutes a work-for-hire and will be the sole property of the applicable Diamondback Party. You
further agree that you will execute such instruments and perform such acts as may be requested by the Company to transfer to and
perfect in the entity designated by the Company all legally protectable rights in such Intellectual Property.

(d)    Return of Property. All materials, records and documents in any medium made by you or coming into your
possession during your employment concerning any products, processes or services, manufactured, used, developed, investigated,
provided or considered by any Diamondback Party or otherwise concerning the business or affairs of the Diamondback Parties, will
be the sole property of the applicable Diamondback Party, and upon termination of your employment, or upon request of the
Company during your employment, you will promptly deliver the same to the Diamondback Party designated by the Company. In
addition, upon termination of your employment, or upon request of the Company during your employment, you will deliver to the
Diamondback Party designated by the Company all other property of the Diamondback Parties in your possession or under your
control, including, but not limited to, financial statements, marketing and sales data, drawings, documents and electronic records.

(e)    Non Solicitation of Customers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, you agree that, during
the Restricted Period, you will not at any time or in any manner, on your own behalf, or on behalf of any other individual, sole
proprietorship, business, firm, partnership, company, corporation or other entity other than the Company, directly solicit, or ask
anyone else to solicit, the sale of goods, services or a combination of goods and services, which are the same or similar to those
provided by the Diamondback Group, from Established Customers. You further agree that for the same period, you will not in any
way interfere or attempt to interfere with the Diamondback Group’s relationships with any of their Established Customers.
“Established Customers” means any customer that the Diamondback Group has actually done business with during the twelve
(12) months preceding the date of termination of your employment.

(f)    Non Solicitation, Non Hire of Employees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, you agree
that, during the Restricted Period, you will not at any time or in any manner, either directly or indirectly, either on your behalf or on
behalf of any person (other than the Diamondback Group), recruit, solicit, hire, divert or otherwise encourage or attempt to recruit,
solicit, hire, divert or otherwise encourage any officer or employees or agents of any Diamondback Company to enter into any
employment, consulting or advisory arrangement or contract with or to perform any services for or on your behalf or on behalf of
any person (other than the Diamondback Group), or to enter into any kind of business with you or any other person, including,
without limitation, any Restricted Business.
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(g)    Non-Disparagement. You agree not to make public statements, negative comments or otherwise disparage any
Diamondback Party or any Diamondback Party’s officers, directors, employees, agents, shareholders or other equity holders in any
manner harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation. The foregoing will not be violated by truthful
statements in response to legal process, required governmental testimony or filings, or administrative or arbitral proceedings
(including, without limitation, depositions in connection with such proceedings) and will not prevent you from responding publicly
to incorrect, disparaging or derogatory public statements to the extent necessary to correct or refute such public statement.

(h)    Cooperation. Upon the receipt of reasonable notice from the Company (including outside counsel), you agree
that while employed by any Diamondback Company and for twelve (12) months thereafter, you will provide reasonable assistance
to any Diamondback Party and their respective representatives in defense of any claims that may be made against any
Diamondback Party and will assist any Diamondback Party in the prosecution of any claims that may be made by any
Diamondback Party, to the extent that such claims relate to the period of your employment with a Diamondback Company. You
agree to promptly inform the Company if you become aware of any lawsuits involving such claims that may be filed or threatened
against any Diamondback Party. You also agree to promptly inform the Company (to the extent legally permitted to do so) if you
are asked to assist in any investigation of any Diamondback Party (or its actions), regardless of whether a lawsuit or other
proceeding has then been filed against any Diamondback Party with respect to such investigation. Upon presentation of appropriate
documentation, the Company will pay or reimburse you for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by you in complying
with this Section 7(h). If at the time of compliance you are no longer an employee, officer or director (or functional equivalent) of
any Diamondback Company, the Company will provide a reasonable per diem to you.

8.    Interpretation, Enforcement and Construction.

(a)    Equitable Relief. With respect to the covenants contained in Sections 6 and 7 of this Agreement, you agree that
any remedy at law for any breach of said covenants may be inadequate and that the Company will be entitled to specific
performance or any other mode of injunctive and/or other equitable relief to enforce its rights hereunder or any other relief a court
might award. In the event of a violation by you of Section 6 or Section 7 hereof, any compensation being paid to you pursuant to
this Agreement or otherwise will immediately cease, and any Base Salary previously paid to you after termination of your
employment will be immediately repaid to the Company. The amount of any earned Base Salary paid for the period prior to
termination of your employment will be retained by you.

(b)    Reformation. The agreements made in Sections 6 and 7 are material inducements for you to enter into this
Agreement and the Company would not have made this Agreement with you without such assurances. You understand and agree
that the geographic area applicable to Section 6 is based on the nature of the products and services provided by the Diamondback
Group and the broad distribution of their customers, and that the limitations set forth therein are reasonable in geographic area and
time and necessary for the protection of the Diamondback Group and its goodwill. However, if any court determines that the time,
geographic
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area or scope of activity of any restriction contained in Section 6 is unenforceable, it is our intention that such limitation set forth
herein will not be terminated but will be amended to the extent required to render it valid and enforceable. A court hearing any such
dispute is empowered and authorized by the parties to reform this Agreement to the maximum time, scope or geographic
limitations permitted by applicable law.

9.    Earlier Termination. Your employment will terminate prior to the expiration of the Term on any of the following terms
and conditions:

(a)    Death or Disability. Your employment will terminate automatically on the date of your death or immediately
upon the Company’s sending you a notice of termination for “Disability,” which means your inability to perform your duties
hereunder for ninety (90) consecutive days or one hundred twenty (120) days (whether or not consecutive) during any period of
three hundred sixty-five (365) consecutive days by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. Upon termination
of your employment for death or Disability pursuant to this Section 9(a), the Company’s sole obligations to you, in addition to any
obligations under the terms of any outstanding equity awards, will be, subject to your compliance with the provisions of Sections 6
and 7 hereof, to pay the Severance Pay (as defined in Section 9(c)), which will be paid as and when such amounts would have been
due had your employment continued. Any obligations pursuant to this Section 9(a) will be contingent on and subject to the release
condition specified in Section 9(c) below.

(b)    Resignation Not for Good Reason; Termination for Cause. Your employment will terminate (x) no less than
thirty (30) days after you send the Company written notice of resignation or (y) immediately upon the Company’s sending you
written notice terminating your employment hereunder for Cause (as defined below), and you and the Company will have no
further obligations hereunder other than your obligations under Sections 6 and 7 hereof and the Company’s obligation to pay you
any of your accrued but unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination. “Cause” means (A) your willful and knowing refusal
or failure (other than during periods of illness, physical or mental incapacity) to perform your duties in any material respect under
this Agreement; (B) your willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of your duties; (C) your material breach of this
Agreement, any other agreement entered into by you related to the Company or its affiliates, or any Company or Diamondback
Group policy (including any applicable code of conduct); (D) your breach of Sections 6 or 7 of this Agreement; (E) your conviction
of, entry of a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere to any criminal act that constitutes a felony or involves, fraud, dishonesty, or
moral turpitude; (F) your indictment for any felony involving embezzlement or theft or fraud; (G) your filing of a voluntary petition
in bankruptcy or your consent to an involuntary petition in bankruptcy (or your failure to vacate, within ninety (90) days of the
entry thereof, any order approving an involuntary petition in bankruptcy) or the entry of an order, judgment or decree by any court
of competent jurisdiction, on the application of a creditor, adjudicating you as bankrupt or insolvent or the appointment of a
receiver, trustee, or liquidator of all or a substantial part of your assets, and such order, judgment or decree’s continuing unstayed
and in effect for any period of ninety (90) days; (H) your dishonesty in connection with your responsibilities as an employee; or (I)
your failure to comply with any lawful directive of the Board
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after five (5) business days’ written notice to you thereof. If you terminate your employment pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding
sentence, the Company will be entitled to accelerate the effectiveness of the termination of your employment to whatever time and
date as it may designate in writing to you in its sole discretion.

(c)    Resignation for Good Reason; Termination Without Cause. Your employment will terminate (x)
immediately upon the Company’s sending you written notice terminating your employment hereunder without Cause for any
reason or for no reason or (y) at the end of the Term if the Company sends you written notice of its election not to extend or renew
your employment pursuant to Section 1 (the events in (x) and (y) are collectively referred to as a “No Cause Termination”) or
upon your resignation in the event of any (i) material breach by the Company hereunder, (ii) relocation of your principal office
more than 25 miles outside of Midland, Texas or (iii) material diminution in your position, duties or authority, which in either case
is not cured within thirty (30) business days after written notice thereof by you to the Board (which notice must be provided by you
to the Company within 90 days following the initial occurrence of such event) and an opportunity to cure within the notice period
(collectively, “Good Reason Resignation”). Any termination on account of a Good Reason Resignation must occur within two
years following the initial occurrence of such event. Upon any such No Cause Termination or Good Reason Resignation, as the
case may be, the Company’s sole obligation(s) to you, in addition to any obligations under the terms of any outstanding equity
awards, will be in the case of a No Cause Termination or your Good Reason Resignation under this Section 9(c), to (A) pay you an
amount equal to 200% of your monthly Base Salary each month for a period equal to the greater of 24 months after such
termination or the number of months in the remaining Term prior to such termination, and (B) the Company will pay 100 percent of
the premiums to continue Executive’s and any of Executive’s surviving spouse’s and eligible dependents’ group health plan
continuation coverage under COBRA (provided that such individuals are qualified beneficiaries who are eligible and timely elect
COBRA continuation coverage) until the earlier of eighteen (18) months after Executive’s termination of employment and the first
date that Executive and Executive’s spouse or eligible dependents are covered under another employer’s program or the Company
is no longer obligated to offer COBRA continuation coverage to any such qualified beneficiary, provided that the Company is
providing such qualified beneficiaries with group health plan coverage at the time of Executive’s termination of employment
(clauses (A) and (B) collectively, the “Severance Pay”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the payment of such COBRA
continuation premiums by the Company would cause the imposition of any excise tax on the Company under Section 4980D of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations thereunder, including without limitation, Section
9815(b) of the Code, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), the Affordable Care Act,
Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act or other applicable law, the parties agree to negotiate in good faith an alternative
arrangement for providing such benefits in an economically neutral manner which does not cause the imposition of such excise tax,
and if reasonably determined by the Company’s counsel or accountants that such economically neutral alternative arrangement is
not viable, then no such premium payment will be due or be made on behalf of Executive or Executive’s surviving spouse and
eligible dependents. Any such Severance Pay payments will be subject to your continued compliance with the provisions of
Sections 6 and 7 hereof and your (or your estate or authorized representative, as applicable) executing (and not revoking) a full
general release in a form as
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requested by the Company, releasing all claims, known or unknown, that you may have against any Diamondback Party, their
officers, directors, employees and agents, arising out of or any way related to your employment or termination of employment with
the Company. Payments provided under this Section 9(c) will be in lieu of any termination or severance payments or benefits for
which you may be eligible under any of the plans, policies or programs of the Company or its affiliates or under the WARN Act or
any similar state statute or regulation. If you accept other employment or engage in your own business prior to the last date of the
Term, you must promptly notify the Company.

(d)    Termination Following a Change in Control. In the event a No Cause Termination or a Good Reason
Resignation occurs within 24 months after the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined in the Diamondback Energy, Inc.
2012 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor plan) and such Change in Control is a “change in control event” within the meaning of
Treas. Regs. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(i), in lieu of the Severance Pay under Section 9(c) above and in addition to any obligations under the
terms of any outstanding equity awards, the Company will pay you a lump sum amount equal to 200% of your monthly Base Salary
multiplied by the greater of 24 months or the number of months in the remaining Term prior to such termination and will continue
to pay Executive’s and any of Executive’s surviving spouse’s and eligible dependents’ group health plan continuation coverage
premiums under COBRA subject to and in accordance with the terms of clause (B) of Section 9(c) (collectively, the “Change in
Control Severance Pay”); provided that any such Change in Control Severance Pay payment will be subject to your continued
compliance with the provisions of Sections 6 and 7 hereof and your (or your estate or authorized representative, as applicable)
executing (and not revoking) a full general release in a form as requested by the Company, releasing all claims, known or unknown,
that you may have against any Diamondback Party, their officers, directors, employees and agents, arising out of or any way related
to your employment or termination of employment with the Company. Payments provided under this Section 9(d) will be in lieu of
any termination or severance payments or benefits for which you may be eligible under Section 9(c) (other than the group health
plan COBRA continuation coverage premiums under clause (B)) or under any of the plans, policies or programs of the Company or
its affiliates or under the WARN Act or any similar state statute or regulation. If you accept other employment or engage in your
own business prior to the last date of the Term, you must promptly notify the Company.

(e)    “At-Will” Employment. Any continued employment with the Company during and after the Term is “at-will,”
meaning you have the right at any time, and for any reason or no reason, to terminate your employment with or without notice, and
the Company has the same right. You understand and agree the Company will not be obligated to continue your employment prior
to the expiration of the Term. Any continuation of employment after the Term will be on such terms and conditions as the Company
then offers in its discretion.

(f)    No Other Obligation. Except as specifically set forth in Sections 9(a), 9(c) and 9(d) above, upon termination of
your employment under this Agreement, the Company’s obligations hereunder will cease and neither the Company nor, for the
avoidance of doubt, any other Diamondback Company, will have any further obligations to you whatsoever.
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10.    Representation and Warranty. You represent that you do not have any contractual or other obligations that would
conflict with your employment by the Company. In particular, you represent that you are not bound by any agreement,
understanding or other obligation with or to any person or entity (including, without limitation, any confidentiality, non-
competition or non-solicitation agreement) that prohibits you from accepting or continuing your employment by the Company and
fully performing all of your duties for the Company. You also acknowledge that it is the Company’s policy to respect the legal
rights of others to protect their confidential information. You therefore represent that you have not taken or retained any
confidential information (or other property) belonging to a prior employer and will not use or disclose any such confidential
information in connection with your work for the Company. Any inaccuracy of any of the statements set forth in this Section 10
will constitute “Cause” for purposes of this Agreement, in which event the Company will be entitled to terminate your employment
under Section 9(b) above with the effect set forth therein.

11.    Dealings with Related Parties. You will not engage in any dealings on behalf of any Diamondback Company with
any party in which you or any person or entity affiliated with you, or members of your or their respective immediate families, has a
financial interest, without first disclosing same to the Compensation Committee or the Board in a writing specifically describing the
nature of the interest and obtaining the Company’s prior written approval.

12.    Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement constitutes the full and complete understanding of the parties with
respect to your employment arrangements with the Company and any of its affiliates and will, on the Effective Date, supersede all
prior employment agreements and writings between you, on the one hand, and the Company or any other Diamondback Company
(or any of their respective predecessors), on the other hand, with respect to your employment arrangements with the Company or
any of its affiliates (the “Prior Agreements”). No representations, inducements, promises, agreements or understandings, oral or
otherwise, have been made by either party to this Agreement, or anyone acting on behalf of either party, which are not set forth
herein, and any others are specifically waived. This Agreement may not be amended or modified in any manner nor may any of its
provisions be waived except by written amendment executed by the parties. A waiver, modification or amendment by a party will
only be effective if (a) it is in writing and signed by the parties, (b) it specifically refers to this Agreement and (c) it specifically
states that the party is waiving, modifying or amending its rights hereunder. Any such amendment, modification or waiver will be
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given.

13.    Severability. The terms and provisions of this Agreement will be deemed severable, and the invalidity or
unenforceability of any one or more of the provisions hereof will not affect the validity or enforceability of any one or more of the
other provisions hereof. In the event any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction,
as to such jurisdiction, will be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or
unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms
or provisions of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction and the parties agree the conflicting term or provision will be modified to
conform.

10



14.    Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement will be in writing and will
be deemed effectively given upon the earlier of actual receipt or: (a) personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent, if
sent by electronic mail or facsimile during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not sent during normal business hours,
then on the recipient’s next business day, (c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, freight prepaid,
specifying next business day delivery, with written verification of receipt, if to you, to your residence, email or facsimile, as
applicable, as listed in the Company’s records, and if to the Company, Diamondback E&P LLC, 14301 Caliber Drive, Suite 300,
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73134, attention of General Counsel.

15.    Assignability; Binding Effect. This Agreement will not be assignable by you without the written consent of the
Board. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of your right to compensation or other benefits
will be null and void. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of you, your legal representatives, heirs and
distributees, and will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company, its affiliates and its and their respective successors
and assigns, including, without limitation, those by asset assignment, stock sale, merger, consolidation or other reorganization (each
a “Permitted Assignee”). The Company will have the right to assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any
Permitted Assignee and will give you written notice of any such assignment.

16.    Governing Law; Venue; Waiver of Trial by Jury.

(a)    This Agreement and the rights of the parties hereunder will be governed by, interpreted, and enforced in
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Texas without giving effect to any choice of law or conflicts of law rules or
provisions thereof.

(b)    Each party irrevocably agrees that any action or proceeding involving any dispute or matter arising under this
Agreement may only be brought in the federal courts of the State of Texas, or if such court does not have jurisdiction or does not
accept jurisdiction, in any court of general jurisdiction in the State of Texas. All parties hereby irrevocably consent to the exclusive
jurisdiction by any such court with respect to any such proceeding and hereby irrevocably waive, and agree not to assert, by way of
motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named
courts for any reason other than by failure to lawfully serve process, (ii) that it or its property is exempt or immune from the
jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts, and (iii) to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, that (x) the action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum, (y) the venue of such action or proceeding is
improper and (z) this Agreement or the subject matter thereof may not be enforced in or by such courts.

(c)    To the extent not prohibited by applicable law, each party to this Agreement hereby waives, and covenants that
it will not assert (whether as plaintiff, defendant or otherwise), its respective right to a jury trial of any permitted claim or cause of
action arising out of this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or any dealings between any of the parties hereto
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. The scope of this waiver and
covenant is intended to be all encompassing of any and all
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disputes that may be filed in any court and that relate to the subject matter of this Agreement or any of the transactions
contemplated hereby, including, contract claims, tort claims and all other common law and statutory claims. This waiver and
covenant is irrevocable and will apply to any subsequent amendments, supplements or other modifications to this Agreement.

17.    Prevailing Party Expenses. In the event that litigation or other legal action is instituted between you and the
Company or any of its affiliates to enforce the rights under this Agreement, the successful party in such litigation or other legal
action will be entitled to reimbursement from the unsuccessful party in such litigation or other legal action of all reasonable fees,
costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by such successful party in connection with such
litigation or other legal action.

18.    Third Party Beneficiaries. The Diamondback Parties and their successors and assigns, as express third party
beneficiaries of this Agreement, will be entitled, in their sole and absolute discretion, to enforce any of the provisions hereof from
time to time, including, but not limited to, the restrictions set forth in Sections 6 and 7 of this Agreement.

19.    Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are used for convenience only and are not to be
considered in construing or interpreting this Agreement.

20.    Counterparts; Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile signature and in two or more
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

21.    Review of this Agreement. You acknowledge that you have (a) carefully read this Agreement, (b) consulted with
independent counsel with respect to this Agreement and (c) entered into this Agreement of your own free will.

22.    Survival. The obligations of Sections 6, 7, 8, 14, 16 and 17 will expressly survive any expiration or termination of this
Agreement.

23.    Background Verification. You hereby authorize the Company to conduct one or more Background Verifications
during your employment. “Background Verification” includes, without limitation, information regarding your employment and
other experience, educational background and any criminal, credit or regulatory history. You further authorize, without reservation,
any law enforcement agency, administrator, court, governmental body, federal or provincial agency, institution, school or university
(public or private), information service bureau, employer or insurance company contacted by the Company or any agent of the
Company to furnish the information set forth in the preceding sentence as part of the employment application process. You hereby
consent to and understand that the Company will only use the information collected for the purposes of (if and as applicable)
establishing or continuing your employment, including without limitation, evaluating your employment application, determining
employment eligibility under the Company’s employment policies, assessing property and business risks to the Company, and
otherwise as may be permitted or required by law. You authorize and consent to the release of records obtained through such checks
to the authorized representatives of the Company or its agents, and to the Company’s affiliates, for the purposes described above.
You acknowledge and agree that
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any information relating to a Background Verification may be shared with any Diamondback Party and stored on the respective
servers.

24.    Code Section 409A and Other Tax Considerations.

(a)    Deferred Compensation Exceptions. Payments under this Agreement will be administered and interpreted to
maximize the short-term deferral exception to and the involuntary separation pay exception under Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”). The portion of
any payment under this Agreement that is paid within the short-term deferral period (within the meaning of Code Section 409A and
Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(4)) or that is paid within the involuntary separation pay safe harbor (as described in Code Section 409A
and Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)) will not be treated as nonqualified deferred compensation and will not be aggregated with
other nonqualified deferred compensation plans or payments.

(b)    Separate Payments and Payment Timing. Any payment or installment made under this Agreement and any
amount that is paid as a short-term deferral, within the meaning of Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(4), will be treated as separate
payments. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, designate the taxable year of a payment made under this Agreement. Payment
dates provided for in this Agreement will be deemed to incorporate grace periods that are treated as made upon a designated
payment date within the meaning of Code Section 409A and Treas. Regs. §1.409A-3(d).

(c)    General 409A Provisions. If for any reason, the short-term deferral or involuntary separation pay plan
exception is inapplicable, payments and benefits payable to Employee under this Agreement are intended to comply with the
requirements of Code Section 409A. To the extent the payments and benefits under this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of
the Code, this Agreement will be interpreted, construed and administered in a manner that satisfies the requirements of Sections
409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any applicable transition relief under Section
409A of the Code). The Company does not guaranty or warrant the tax consequences of this Agreement and, except as specifically
provided to the contrary in this Agreement, Employee will, in all cases, be liable for any taxes due as a result of this Agreement.
Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates will have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold you harmless from any or all
such taxes, interest or penalties, or liability for any damages related thereto. Employee acknowledges that he has been advised to
obtain independent legal, tax or other counsel in connection with Section 409A.

(i)    If Employee or the Company determines that any payments or benefits payable under this Agreement
intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not comply with Section 409A of the Code,
Employee and the Company agree to amend this Agreement, or take such other actions as Employee and the Company
deem reasonably necessary or appropriate, to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, the Treasury
Regulations thereunder (and any applicable relief provisions) while preserving the economic agreement of the parties. If any
provision of the Agreement would cause such payments or benefits to fail to so comply, such provision will
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not be effective and will be null and void with respect to such payments or benefits, and such provision will otherwise
remain in full force and effect.

(ii)    All payments considered nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A and the regulations
thereunder will be made on the date(s) provided herein and no request to accelerate or defer any payment under this Section
will be considered or approved for any reason whatsoever, except as permitted under Section 409A. The Severance Pay or
Change in Control Severance Pay payments will commence on the first payroll date that is on or after the eighth day
following receipt by the Company of Employee’s executed release (and, in the case of the Change in Control Severance Pay
be paid in one lump sum on such date); provided, however, if the Base Salary continuation payments are deferred
compensation subject to Code Section 409A and if the period during which Employee has discretion to execute or revoke
the release straddles two taxable years of Employee, then the Company will commence the Base Salary continuation
payments in the second of such taxable years. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the release requirement, the Base
Salary continuation payments will in all events be paid no later than 60 days following Executive’s termination of
employment, regardless of which taxable year Executive actually delivers the executed Release to the Company. Once such
Base Salary continuation payments commence, the first installment thereof will include all amounts that would have been
paid had such payments commenced on the first payroll date occurring on or after the termination of employment date.
Executive may not, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of the commencement of any payment hereunder.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, amounts payable hereunder which are not nonqualified deferred compensation, or which
may be accelerated pursuant to Section 409A, such as distributions for applicable tax payments, may be accelerated, but not
deferred, at the sole discretion of Company.

(iii)    All references in this Agreement to termination of employment or termination mean Employee’s
“separation from service” as that term is defined in Section 1.409A-1(h) of the Treasury Regulations.

(iv)    All reimbursements and in-kind benefits provided under this agreement that constitute deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code will be made or provided in accordance with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code, including that (i) in no event will reimbursements by the Company under this
agreement be made later than the end of the calendar year next following the calendar year in which the applicable fees and
expenses were incurred, provided that you submit an invoice for such fees and expenses at least 10 days before the end of
the calendar year next following the calendar year in which such fees and expenses were incurred; (ii) the amount of in-kind
benefits that the Company is obligated to pay or provide in any given calendar year (other than medical reimbursements
described in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv)(B)) may not affect the in-kind benefits that the Company is obligated to pay or
provide in any other calendar year; (iii) your right to have the Company pay or provide such reimbursements and in-kind
benefits may not be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit; and (iv) in no event will the Company’s obligations to
make such reimbursements or to provide such in-
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kind benefits apply later than your remaining lifetime or, if longer, through the 20th anniversary of the Effective Date.

(d)    Specified Employee Status. If Employee is a specified employee (within the meaning of Code Section 409A)
on the date of separation from service, any payments made with respect to such separation from service under this Agreement, and
other payments or benefits under this Agreement that are subject to Section 409A of the Code, will be delayed in order to comply
with Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, and such payments or benefits will be paid or distributed to you during the five-day
period commencing on the earlier of: (i) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the date of your separation from
service, or (ii) the date of your death. Upon the expiration of the applicable six-month period under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, all payments deferred pursuant to this Section 24(d) will be paid to Employee (or Employee’s estate, in the event of
Employee’s death) in a lump sum payment. Any remaining payments and benefits due under the Agreement will be paid as
otherwise provided in the Agreement.

(e)    Withholding Taxes. To the extent any payments under this Agreement are wages subject to income and
employment tax withholding, the Company has the right to withhold or otherwise require Executive to pay to the Company the
amount of any taxes that the Company may be required to withhold before delivery of such payment to Executive.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by its duly
authorized officers, as of the day and year first above written.

   DIAMONDBACK E&P LLC

Date: April 24, 2014  By: /s/ Steven E. West  
      

   EMPLOYEE

Date: April 22, 2014  By: /s/ Travis D. Stice  

    Travis Stice, in his individual capacity  
      

      

Diamondback E&P LLC & Travis Stice Employment Agreement Signature Page



Exhibit 10.6

RUSSELL PANTERMUEHL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of January 1, 2014 by
and between Diamondback E&P LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), and Russell Pantermuehl (“you” or
“Employee”).

1. Term of Employment. Subject to the provisions for termination provided in Section 9, the term of Employee’s
employment under this Agreement continued as of January 1, 2014 (the “Effective Date”) and shall terminate on the second
anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Period”); provided, however, that unless either party shall give written notice to the
other party of an election not to extend or renew Employee’s employment hereunder at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the
Initial Period, or any anniversary thereof, the term of this Agreement shall automatically be extended by successive one-year
periods (each an “Extension”). The term of this Agreement, including the Initial Period and any Extension, is hereinafter referred
to as the “Term.” Each 12-month period beginning on the Effective Date or any anniversary thereof and ending on the day prior to
the anniversary thereof is hereinafter referred to as a “Contract Year.”

2.    Compensation.

(a)    During the Term, you shall be compensated for all services rendered by you under this Agreement at the rate of
$350,000 per annum (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary shall be payable in such manner as is consistent with the Company’s
payroll practices for executive employees and subject to the usual, required withholding. From time to time at the sole discretion of
the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Diamondback
Energy, Inc. (“Diamondback Energy”), Employee’s Base Salary may be reviewed by the Compensation Committee and/or the
Board and may be increased, but not decreased, by the Compensation Committee or the Board in their sole discretion. The term
“Base Salary” as used herein shall mean and refer to the then current base salary, as adjusted from time to time in accordance with
this Section 2(a). The Company shall deduct from the Base Salary amounts sufficient to cover applicable federal, state and/or local
income tax withholdings and any other amounts which the Company is required to withhold by applicable law.

(b)    During the Term, you shall be eligible to receive an annual bonus in accordance with the Company’s bonus
policy as established by the Compensation Committee or the Board from time to time (the “Annual Bonus”). The Annual Bonus
shall be determined by the Compensation Committee or the Board based upon your achievement of performance goals as
determined by the Compensation Committee or the Board for each fiscal year of the Company. You shall be eligible to receive a
target Annual Bonus of 80% of your Base Salary subject to your achievement of such performance goals. The Annual Bonus shall
be paid within fifteen (15) business days after the later of: (i) the written certification by the Compensation Committee of the
achievement of the performance goals; and (ii) completion and release of the audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal
year; provided, however, you must still be employed by the Company on the payment date to receive the Annual Bonus. The
Company shall have the right to condition the payment of any Bonus amounts on your execution of a document reasonably
acceptable



to the Company pursuant to which you confirm, ratify and agree that this Agreement and all of its provisions are valid and binding
and are enforceable against you in accordance with their terms.

(c)    Equity Awards. In addition to the Base Salary, you will be eligible, for each fiscal year of the Company ending
during the Term, to participate in the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan or such other equity incentive plan or plans then in
existence for the benefit of employees, and may in the discretion of the Compensation Committee receive an equity award (an
“Equity Award”), in accordance with the terms of such plan or plans. The timing and amount of such Equity Awards, any target
performance goals and the vesting terms of such awards will be determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion.
Any Equity Awards will be pursuant to and will incorporate all terms and conditions of the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan
or such other equity incentive plan or plans then in existence for the benefit of employees, as applicable, and the Company’s then
standard form of award agreement. If Executive’s employment with the Company terminates prior to any scheduled vesting date
then, except as expressly provided in any existing or future Equity Award, Executive shall forfeit all rights and interests in and to
such unvested Equity Awards.

3.    Duties.

(a)    You shall serve as Vice President – Reservoir Engineering of Diamondback Energy, shall be subject to the
general supervision and control of the Chief Executive Officer, the Board and/or such other officers or individuals as the Board
may designate, and shall provide such services customarily expected of such office and as may be reasonably requested by the
Board (or its designee) from time to time. Your principal office shall be located in Midland, Texas.

(b)    During the Term, you shall devote your full business time, energies and attention to the business and affairs of
Diamondback Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Diamondback Group” or the “Diamondback Companies” and each
of them, individually, a “Diamondback Company”), and you shall not engage in any other business activities; provided, however,
that you shall be permitted to engage in such charitable and other activities as do not interfere with the performance of your duties
under this Agreement and are approved in writing by the Board.

(c)    You shall: (i) provide services hereunder to the best of your skills and ability and in an efficient manner and
devote such time and effort to the business and affairs of the Company as necessary or advisable to perform your duties hereunder;
(ii) act in a manner which you in good faith believe is in the best interests of the Company; (iii) implement any business plan
adopted by the Company and then in effect; (iv) perform your duties hereunder, including without limitation any duties reasonably
assigned to you by the Company, in good faith; (v) keep the Company reasonably informed on all matters that are material to the
Company; (vi) be subject to, and comply with, the Company’s and the Diamondback Group’s rules, practices and policies
applicable to executive employees as reflected in the employee handbook, codes of conduct, compliance policies or otherwise, as
may be amended from time to time; and (vii) cause the Company to comply with all applicable laws and regulations and monitor
the development, maintenance, operation and management of the business of the Company to ensure such development,
maintenance, operation and management complies with all applicable laws.
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4.    Benefits. You shall be entitled to twenty-five (25) paid vacation days per annum. You also shall have the benefit of such
life and medical insurance plans and other similar plans as the Diamondback Group may have or may establish from time to time
for its executive employees generally, subject to satisfaction of applicable eligibility requirements. The foregoing, however, shall
not be construed to require any Diamondback Company to establish any such plans or to prevent any Diamondback Company from
modifying or terminating any such plans, and no such action or failure thereof shall affect this Agreement.

5.    Expenses. The Company shall reimburse you, in accordance with the Company’s policies, for reasonable expenses
incurred by you in the ordinary course in connection with the business of the Diamondback Group upon the presentation by you of
appropriate substantiation for such expenses.

6.    Restrictive Covenants.

(a)    Subject to Section 6(b) below, from the Effective Date until the later of the termination of your employment
with, engagement as a consultant of, or other affiliation with, any Diamondback Company, and for a period ending on the date that
is six (6) months thereafter (such period, the “Restricted Period”), neither you nor any of your affiliates shall, without the written
consent of the Board, at any time or in any manner, either directly or indirectly, become associated with, render services to, invest
in, represent, advise or otherwise participate as an officer, employee, director, stockholder, partner, member, agent of or consultant
for any company, business, organization or other legal or natural person that engages or participates in the Restricted Business;
provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent you from acquiring up to two percent (2%) of the securities of any company
listed on a national securities exchange or quoted on the NASDAQ quotation system, provided your involvement with any such
company is solely that of a passive stockholder. For purposes of this Agreement, “Restricted Business” means (i) the oil and gas
exploration and production business in Texas, Oklahoma and New Mexico and each other area, location or field in which the
Diamondback Group conducts or is preparing to conduct business during the Term or (ii) any other business or operation that is in
competition with any business or operations managed or operated by or under consideration or in development by any
Diamondback Company during the Term.

(b)    The parties hereto intend that the covenant contained in this Section 6 shall be deemed a series of separate
covenants for each state, county and city in which the Diamondback Group’s business is conducted or is preparing to be conducted.
If, in any judicial proceeding, a court shall refuse to enforce all of the separate covenants deemed included in this Section 6
because, taken together, they cover too extensive a geographic area, the parties intend that those covenants (taken in order of the
states, counties and cities therein which are least populous), which if eliminated would permit the remaining separate covenants to
be enforced in such proceeding, shall, for the purpose of such proceeding, be deemed eliminated from the provisions of this Section
6.
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7.    Confidentiality, Non-Interference, Proprietary Information and Non-Solicitation.

(a)    Confidentiality. In the course of your employment by the Diamondback Companies, you have had, and/or
shall have, access to confidential or proprietary data or information of the Diamondback Group, any affiliates of the foregoing and
their respective businesses (collectively the “Diamondback Parties” and each of them individually, a “Diamondback Party,”
which for the avoidance of doubt shall include the Diamondback Group). You shall not at any time during or after your
employment divulge or communicate to any person (which term, for purposes of this Agreement, includes both persons or entities)
nor shall you direct any Diamondback Group employee to divulge or communicate to any person (other than to a person bound by
confidentiality obligations similar to those contained herein and other than as necessary in performing your duties hereunder), or
use to the detriment of the Diamondback Parties or for the benefit of any other person, any of such data or information. No business
conducted by you or any organization of which you, directly or indirectly, are an owner, partner, manager, joint venturer, director,
officer, manager or otherwise a participant in or connected with in any locality, state or country in which the Diamondback Parties
conduct business shall use any name, designation or logo which is substantially similar to that presently used by any Diamondback
Party. The term “confidential or proprietary data or information” as used in this Agreement shall mean any information not
generally available to the public or generally known within the applicable Diamondback Party’s industry, including, without
limitation, personnel information, financial information, customer lists or contacts, supplier lists, strategy and plans, information
regarding operations, systems, services, know-how, computer and any other processed or collated data, trade secrets (including,
without limitation, software), computer programs, pricing, marketing and advertising data.

(b)    Non-Interference. You agree that, during the Restricted Period, you shall not, at any time or in any manner,
either directly or indirectly, for your own account or for the account of any other person, interfere with any Diamondback Party’s
relationship with any of its employees, suppliers or regulators.

(c)    Proprietary Information and Disclosure. You agree that you shall at all times promptly disclose to the
Company, in such form and manner as the Company may require, any inventions, improvements or procedural or methodological
innovations, program methods, forms, systems, services, designs, marketing ideas, products or processes (whether or not capable of
being trademarked, copyrighted or patented) conceived or developed or created by you during or in connection with your
employment hereunder and which relate to the business of any Diamondback Party (“Intellectual Property”). You agree that all
such Intellectual Property constitutes a work-for-hire and shall be the sole property of the applicable Diamondback Party. You
further agree that you shall execute such instruments and perform such acts as may be requested by the Company to transfer to and
perfect in the entity designated by the Company all legally protectable rights in such Intellectual Property.

(d)    Return of Property. All materials, records and documents in any medium made by you or coming into your
possession during your employment concerning any products, processes or services, manufactured, used, developed, investigated,
provided or considered by any
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Diamondback Party or otherwise concerning the business or affairs of the Diamondback Parties, shall be the sole property of the
applicable Diamondback Party, and upon termination of your employment, or upon request of the Company during your
employment, you shall promptly deliver the same to the Diamondback Party designated by the Company. In addition, upon
termination of your employment, or upon request of the Company during your employment, you shall deliver to the Diamondback
Party designated by the Company all other property of the Diamondback Parties in your possession or under your control,
including, but not limited to, financial statements, marketing and sales data, drawings, documents and electronic records.

(e)    Non Solicitation of Customers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, you agree that, during
the Restricted Period, you shall not at any time or in any manner, on your own behalf, or on behalf of any other individual, sole
proprietorship, business, firm, partnership, company, corporation or other entity other than the Company, directly solicit, or ask
anyone else to solicit, the sale of goods, services or a combination of goods and services, which are the same or similar to those
provided by the Diamondback Group, from Established Customers. You further agree that for the same period, you will not in any
way interfere or attempt to interfere with the Diamondback Group’s relationships with any of their Established Customers.
“Established Customers” means any customer that the Diamondback Group has actually done business with during the twelve
(12) months preceding the last date of the Restricted Period.

(f)    Non Solicitation, Non Hire of Employees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, you agree
that, during the Restricted Period, you shall not at any time or in any manner, either directly or indirectly, either on your behalf or
on behalf of any person (other than the Diamondback Group), recruit, solicit, hire, divert or otherwise encourage or attempt to
recruit, solicit, hire, divert or otherwise encourage any officer or employees or agents of any Diamondback Company to enter into
any employment, consulting or advisory arrangement or contract with or to perform any services for or on your behalf or on behalf
of any person (other than the Diamondback Group), or to enter into any kind of business with you or any other person, including,
without limitation, any Restricted Business.

(g)    Non-Disparagement. You agree not to make public statements, negative comments or otherwise disparage any
Diamondback Party or any Diamondback Party’s officers, directors, employees, agents, shareholders or other equity holders in any
manner harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation. The foregoing shall not be violated by truthful
statements in response to legal process, required governmental testimony or filings, or administrative or arbitral proceedings
(including, without limitation, depositions in connection with such proceedings).

(h)    Cooperation. Upon the receipt of reasonable notice from the Company (including outside counsel), you agree
that while employed by any Diamondback Company and thereafter, you shall provide reasonable assistance to any Diamondback
Party and their respective representatives in defense of any claims that may be made against any Diamondback Party and shall
assist any Diamondback Party in the prosecution of any claims that may be made by any Diamondback Party, to the extent that
such claims relate to the period of your employment with a Diamondback Company. You agree to promptly inform the Company if
you become aware of any

5



lawsuits involving such claims that may be filed or threatened against any Diamondback Party. You also agree to promptly inform
the Company (to the extent legally permitted to do so) if you are asked to assist in any investigation of any Diamondback Party (or
its actions), regardless of whether a lawsuit or other proceeding has then been filed against any Diamondback Party with respect to
such investigation. Upon presentation of appropriate documentation, the Company shall pay or reimburse you for all reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses incurred by you in complying with this Section 7(h). If at the time of compliance you are no longer an
employee, officer or director (or functional equivalent) of any Diamondback Company, the Company shall provide a reasonable per
diem to you.

8.    Interpretation, Enforcement and Construction.

(a)    Equitable Relief. With respect to the covenants contained in Sections 6 and 7 of this Agreement, you agree that
any remedy at law for any breach of said covenants may be inadequate and that the Company shall be entitled to specific
performance or any other mode of injunctive and/or other equitable relief to enforce its rights hereunder or any other relief a court
might award. In the event of a violation by you of Section 6 or Section 7 hereof, any compensation being paid to you pursuant to
this Agreement or otherwise shall immediately cease, and any Base Salary previously paid to you after termination of your
employment shall be immediately repaid to the Company. The amount of any earned Base Salary paid for the period prior to
termination of your employment shall be retained by you.

(b)        Reformation. The agreements made in Sections 6 and 7 are material inducements for you to enter into this
Agreement and the Company would not have made this Agreement with you without such assurances. You understand and agree
that the geographic area applicable to Section 6 is based on the nature of the products and services provided by the Diamondback
Group and the broad distribution of their customers, and that the limitations set forth therein are reasonable in geographic area and
time and necessary for the protection of the Diamondback Group and its goodwill. However, if any court shall determine that the
time, geographic area or scope of activity of any restriction contained in Section 6 is unenforceable, it is our intention that such
limitation set forth herein shall not be terminated but shall be amended to the extent required to render it valid and enforceable. A
court hearing any such dispute is empowered and authorized by the parties to reform this Agreement to the maximum time, scope
or geographic limitations permitted by applicable law.

9.    Earlier Termination. Your employment shall terminate prior to the expiration of the Term on any of the following
terms and conditions:

(a)    Death or Disability. Your employment shall terminate automatically on the date of your death or immediately
upon the Company’s sending you a notice of termination for “Disability,” which shall mean your inability to perform your duties
hereunder for ninety (90) days (whether or not continuous) during any period of three hundred sixty-five (365) consecutive days by
reason of physical or mental disability. Upon termination of your employment for death or Disability pursuant to this Section 9(a),
the Company’s sole obligations to you shall be, subject to your compliance with the provisions of Sections 6 and 7 hereof, to pay
the Severance Pay (as defined
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in Section 9(c)), which shall be paid as and when such amounts would have been due had your employment continued, subject to
the release condition specified in Section 9(c) below.

(b)    Resignation Not for Good Reason; Termination for Cause. Your employment shall terminate (x) no less
than thirty (30) days after you send the Company written notice of resignation or (y) immediately upon the Company’s sending you
written notice terminating your employment hereunder for Cause (as defined below), and you and the Company shall have no
further obligations hereunder other than your obligations under Sections 6 and 7 hereof and the Company’s obligation to pay you
any of your accrued but unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination. “Cause” shall mean (A) your willful and knowing
refusal or failure (other than during periods of illness, physical or mental incapacity) to perform your duties in any material respect
under this Agreement; (B) your willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of your duties; (C) your material breach
of this Agreement, any other agreement entered into by you related to the Company or its affiliates, or any Company or
Diamondback Group policy (including any applicable code of conduct); (D) your breach of Sections 6 or 7 of this Agreement; (E)
your conviction of, entry of a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere to any criminal act that constitutes a felony or involves, fraud,
dishonesty, or moral turpitude; (F) your indictment for any felony involving embezzlement or theft or fraud; (G) your filing of a
voluntary petition in bankruptcy or your consent to an involuntary petition in bankruptcy (or your failure to vacate, within ninety
(90) days of the entry thereof, any order approving an involuntary petition in bankruptcy) or the entry of an order, judgment or
decree by any court of competent jurisdiction, on the application of a creditor, adjudicating you as bankrupt or insolvent or the
appointment of a receiver, trustee, or liquidator of all or a substantial part of your assets, and such order, judgment or decree’s
continuing unstayed and in effect for any period of ninety (90) days; (H) your dishonesty in connection with your responsibilities as
an employee; or (I) your failure to comply with any lawful directive of the Board after five (5) business days’ written notice to you
thereof. If you terminate your employment pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the Company shall be entitled to
accelerate the effectiveness of the termination of your employment to whatever time and date as it shall designate in writing to you
in its sole discretion.

(c)    Resignation for Good Reason; Termination Without Cause. Your employment shall terminate (x)
immediately upon the Company’s sending you written notice terminating your employment hereunder without Cause for any
reason or for no reason or (y) at the end of the Term if the Company sends you written notice of its election not to extend or renew
your employment pursuant to Section 1(the events in (x) and (y) are collectively referred to as a “No Cause Termination”) or upon
your resignation in the event of any (i) material breach by the Company hereunder, (ii) relocation of your principal office more than
25 miles outside of Midland, Texas or (iii) material diminution in the your position, duties or authority, which in either case is not
cured within thirty (30) business days after written notice thereof by you to the Board (which notice must be provided by you to the
Company within 90 days following the initial occurrence of such event) and an opportunity to cure within the notice period
(collectively, “Good Reason Resignation”). Any termination on account of a Good Reason Resignation must occur within two
years following the initial occurrence of such event. Upon any such No Cause Termination or Good Reason Resignation, as the
case may be, the Company’s sole obligation(s) to you shall be in the case of a No Cause Termination or your Good Reason
Resignation under this Section 9(c), to pay
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you your Base Salary for a period of 12 months after such termination (“Severance Pay”), which shall be paid as and when such
amounts would have been due had your employment continued; provided that any such Severance Pay payment shall be subject to
your continued compliance with the provisions of Sections 6 and 7 hereof and your (or your estate or authorized representative, as
applicable) executing (and not revoking) a full general release in a form as requested by the Company, releasing all claims, known
or unknown, that you may have against any Diamondback Party, their officers, directors, employees and agents, arising out of or
any way related to your employment or termination of employment with the Company. Payments provided under this Section 9(c)
shall be in lieu of any termination or severance payments or benefits for which you may be eligible under any of the plans, policies
or programs of the Company or its affiliates or under the WARN Act or any similar state statute or regulation. If you accept other
employment or engage in your own business prior to the last date of the Term, you shall promptly notify the Company.

(d)    “At-Will” Employment. Any continued employment with the Company during and after the Term is “at-will,”
meaning you have the right at any time, and for any reason or no reason, to terminate your employment with or without notice, and
the Company has the same right. You understand and agree the Company shall not be obligated to continue your employment prior
to the expiration of the Term. Any continuation of employment after the Term shall be on such terms and conditions as the
Company shall then offer in its discretion.

(e)    No Other Obligation. Except as specifically set forth in Sections 9(a) and (c) above, upon termination of your
employment under this Agreement, the Company’s obligations hereunder shall cease and neither the Company nor, for the
avoidance of doubt, any other Diamondback Company, shall have any further obligations to you whatsoever.

10.    Representation and Warranty. You represent that you do not have any contractual or other obligations that would
conflict with your employment by the Company. In particular, you represent that you are not bound by any agreement,
understanding or other obligation with or to any person or entity (including, without limitation, any confidentiality, non-
competition or non-solicitation agreement) that prohibits you from accepting or continuing your employment by the Company and
fully performing all of your duties for the Company. You also acknowledge that it is the Company’s policy to respect the legal
rights of others to protect their confidential information. You therefore represent that you have not taken or retained any
confidential information (or other property) belonging to a prior employer and shall not use or disclose any such confidential
information in connection with your work for the Company. Any inaccuracy of any of the statements set forth in this Section 10
shall constitute “Cause” for purposes of this Agreement, in which event we would be entitled to terminate your employment under
Section 9(b) above with the effect set forth therein.

11.    Dealings with Related Parties. You shall not engage in any dealings on behalf of any Diamondback Company with
any party in which you or any person or entity affiliated with you, or members of your or their respective immediate families, has a
financial interest, without first disclosing same to the Board in a writing specifically describing the nature of the interest and
obtaining the Company’s prior written approval.
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12.    Entire Agreement; Modification. This Agreement constitutes the full and complete understanding of the parties with
respect to your employment arrangements with the Company and any of its affiliates and shall, on the Effective Date, supersede all
prior agreements and writings between you, on the one hand, and the Company or any other Diamondback Company (or any of
their respective predecessors), on the other hand, with respect to your employment arrangements with the Company or any of its
affiliates (the “Prior Agreements”). No representations, inducements, promises, agreements or understandings, oral or otherwise,
have been made by either party to this Agreement, or anyone acting on behalf of either party, which are not set forth herein, and
any others are specifically waived. This Agreement may not be amended or modified in any manner nor may any of its provisions
be waived except by written amendment executed by the parties. A waiver, modification or amendment by a party shall only be
effective if (a) it is in writing and signed by the parties, (b) it specifically refers to this Agreement and (c) it specifically states that
the party is waiving, modifying or amending its rights hereunder. Any such amendment, modification or waiver shall be effective
only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given.

13.    Severability. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or
unenforceability of any one or more of the provisions hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any one or more of the
other provisions hereof. In the event any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or
unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms
or provisions of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction and the parties agree the conflicting term or provision shall be modified to
conform.

14.    Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall
be deemed effectively given upon the earlier of actual receipt or: (a) personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent, if
sent by electronic mail or facsimile during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not sent during normal business hours,
then on the recipient’s next business day, (c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, freight prepaid,
specifying next business day delivery, with written verification of receipt, if to you, to your residence, email or facsimile, as
applicable, as listed in the Company’s records, and if to the Company, Diamondback E&P LLC, 14301 Caliber Drive, Suite 300,
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73134, attention of General Counsel.

15.    Assignability; Binding Effect. This Agreement shall not be assignable by you without the written consent of the
Board. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of your right to compensation or other benefits
will be null and void. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of you, your legal representatives, heirs and
distributees, and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company, its affiliates and its and their respective successors
and assigns, including, without limitation, those by asset assignment, stock sale, merger, consolidation or other reorganization (each
a “Permitted Assignee”). The Company shall have the right to assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any
Permitted Assignee and will give you written notice of any such assignment.
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16.    Governing Law; Venue; Waiver of Trial by Jury.

(a)    This Agreement and the rights of the parties hereunder shall be governed by, interpreted, and enforced in
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Texas without giving effect to any choice of law or conflicts of law rules or
provisions thereof.

(b)    Each party irrevocably agrees that any action or proceeding involving any dispute or matter arising under this
Agreement may only be brought in the federal courts of the State of Texas, or if such court does not have jurisdiction or shall not
accept jurisdiction, in any court of general jurisdiction in the State of Texas. All parties hereby irrevocably consent to the exclusive
jurisdiction by any such court with respect to any such proceeding and hereby irrevocably waive, and agree not to assert, by way of
motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named
courts for any reason other than by failure to lawfully serve process, (ii) that it or its property is exempt or immune from the
jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts, and (iii) to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, that (x) the action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum, (y) the venue of such action or proceeding is
improper and (z) this Agreement or the subject matter thereof may not be enforced in or by such courts.

(c)    To the extent not prohibited by applicable law, each party to this Agreement hereby waives, and covenants that
it shall not assert (whether as plaintiff, defendant or otherwise), its respective right to a jury trial of any permitted claim or cause of
action arising out of this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or any dealings between any of the parties hereto
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. The scope of this waiver and
covenant is intended to be all encompassing of any and all disputes that may be filed in any court and that relate to the subject
matter of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, including, contract claims, tort claims and all other
common law and statutory claims. This waiver and covenant is irrevocable and shall apply to any subsequent amendments,
supplements or other modifications to this Agreement.

17.    Prevailing Party Expenses. In the event that litigation or other legal action is instituted between you and the
Company or any of its affiliates to enforce the rights under this Agreement, the successful party in such litigation or other legal
action shall be entitled to reimbursement from the unsuccessful party in such litigation or other legal action of all reasonable fees,
costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by such successful party in connection with such
litigation or other legal action.

18.    Third Party Beneficiaries. The Diamondback Parties and their successors and assigns, as express third party
beneficiaries of this Agreement, shall be entitled, in their sole and absolute discretion, to enforce any of the provisions hereof from
time to time, including, but not limited to, the restrictions set forth in Sections 6 and 7 of this Agreement.

19.    Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are used for convenience only and are not to be
considered in construing or interpreting this Agreement.
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20.    Counterparts; Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile signature and in two or more
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

21.    Review of this Agreement. You acknowledge that you have (a) carefully read this Agreement, (b) consulted with
independent counsel with respect to this Agreement and (c) entered into this Agreement of your own free will.

22.    Survival. The obligations of Sections 6, 7, 8, 14, 16 and 17 shall expressly survive any expiration or termination of
this Agreement.

23.    Background Verification. You hereby authorize the Company to conduct one or more Background Verifications prior
to and during your actual employment. “Background Verification” includes, without limitation, information regarding your
employment and other experience, educational background and any criminal, credit or regulatory history. You further authorize,
without reservation, any law enforcement agency, administrator, court, governmental body, federal or provincial agency, institution,
school or university (public or private), information service bureau, employer or insurance company contacted by the Company or
any agent of the Company to furnish the information set forth in the preceding sentence as part of the employment application
process. You hereby consent to and understand that the Company will only use the information collected for the purposes of (if and
as applicable) establishing or continuing your employment, including without limitation, evaluating your employment application,
determining employment eligibility under the Company’s employment policies, assessing property and business risks to the
Company, and otherwise as may be permitted or required by law. You authorize and consent to the release of records obtained
through such checks to the authorized representatives of the Company or its agents, and to the Company’s affiliates, for the
purposes described above. You acknowledge and agree that any information relating to a Background Verification may be shared
with any Diamondback Party and stored on the respective servers.

24.    Code Section 409A and Other Tax Considerations.

(a)    Deferred Compensation Exceptions. Payments under this Agreement will be administered and interpreted to
maximize the short-term deferral exception to and the involuntary separation pay exception under Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”). The portion of
any payment under this Agreement that is paid within the short-term deferral period (within the meaning of Code Section 409A and
Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(4)) or that is paid within the involuntary separation pay safe harbor (as described in Code Section 409A
and Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)) will not be treated as nonqualified deferred compensation and will not be aggregated with
other nonqualified deferred compensation plans or payments.

(b)    Separate Payments and Payment Timing. Any payment or installment made under this Agreement and any
amount that is paid as a short-term deferral, within the meaning of Treas. Regs. §1.409A-1(b)(4), will be treated as separate
payments. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, designate the taxable year of a payment made under this Agreement. Payment
dates provided for in this Agreement will be deemed to incorporate grace periods that are treated as made
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upon a designated payment date within the meaning of Code Section 409A and Treas. Regs. §1.409A-3(d).

(c)    General 409A Provisions. If for any reason, the short-term deferral or involuntary separation pay plan
exception is inapplicable, payments and benefits payable to Employee under this Agreement are intended to comply with the
requirements of Code Section 409A. To the extent the payments and benefits under this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of
the Code, this Agreement will be interpreted, construed and administered in a manner that satisfies the requirements of Sections
409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any applicable transition relief under Section
409A of the Code). The Company does not guaranty or warrant the tax consequences of this Agreement and, except as specifically
provided to the contrary in this Agreement, Employee will, in all cases, be liable for any taxes due as a result of this Agreement.
Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates shall have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold you harmless from any or all
such taxes, interest or penalties, or liability for any damages related thereto. Employee acknowledges that he has been advised to
obtain independent legal, tax or other counsel in connection with Section 409A.

(i)    If Employee or the Company determines that any payments or benefits payable under this Agreement
intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not comply with Section 409A of the Code,
Employee and the Company agree to amend this Agreement, or take such other actions as Employee and the Company
deem reasonably necessary or appropriate, to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, the Treasury
Regulations thereunder (and any applicable relief provisions) while preserving the economic agreement of the parties. If any
provision of the Agreement would cause such payments or benefits to fail to so comply, such provision will not be effective
and will be null and void with respect to such payments or benefits, and such provision will otherwise remain in full force
and effect.

(ii)    All payments considered nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A and the regulations
thereunder will be made on the date(s) provided herein and no request to accelerate or defer any payment under this Section
will be considered or approved for any reason whatsoever, except as permitted under Section 409A. The Severance Pay
payments will commence on the first payroll date that is on or after the eighth day following receipt by the Company of
Employee’s executed release; provided, however, if the Base Salary continuation payments are deferred compensation
subject to Code Section 409A and if the period during which Employee has discretion to execute or revoke the release
straddles two taxable years of Employee, then the Company will commence the Base Salary continuation payments in the
second of such taxable years. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the release requirement, the Base Salary
continuation payments will in all events be paid no later than 60 days following Executive’s termination of employment,
regardless of which taxable year Executive actually delivers the executed Release to the Company. Once such Base Salary
continuation payments commence, the first installment thereof will include all amounts that would have been paid had such
payments commenced on the first payroll date occurring on or after the termination of employment date. Executive may
not, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of the commencement of any payment
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hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, amounts payable hereunder which are not nonqualified deferred compensation,
or which may be accelerated pursuant to Section 409A, such as distributions for applicable tax payments, may be
accelerated, but not deferred, at the sole discretion of Company.

(iii)    All references in this Agreement to termination of employment or termination mean Employee’s
“separation from service” as that term is defined in Section 1.409A-1(h) of the Treasury Regulations.

(iv)    All reimbursements and in-kind benefits provided under this agreement that constitute deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code shall be made or provided in accordance with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code, including that (i) in no event shall reimbursements by the Company under this
agreement be made later than the end of the calendar year next following the calendar year in which the applicable fees and
expenses were incurred, provided that you shall have submitted an invoice for such fees and expenses at least 10 days
before the end of the calendar year next following the calendar year in which such fees and expenses were incurred; (ii) the
amount of in-kind benefits that the Company is obligated to pay or provide in any given calendar year (other than medical
reimbursements described in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv)(B)) shall not affect the in-kind benefits that the Company is
obligated to pay or provide in any other calendar year; (iii) your right to have the Company pay or provide such
reimbursements and in-kind benefits may not be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit; and (iv) in no event shall the
Company’s obligations to make such reimbursements or to provide such in-kind benefits apply later than your remaining
lifetime or, if longer, through the 20th anniversary of the Effective Date.

(d)    Specified Employee Status. If Employee is a specified employee (within the meaning of Code Section 409A)
on the date of separation from service, any payments made with respect to such separation from service under this Agreement, and
other payments or benefits under this Agreement that are subject to Section 409A of the Code, will be delayed in order to comply
with Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, and such payments or benefits will be paid or distributed to you during the five-day
period commencing on the earlier of: (i) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the date of your separation from
service, or (ii) the date of your death. Upon the expiration of the applicable six-month period under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, all payments deferred pursuant to this Section (e) will be paid to Employee (or Employee’s estate, in the event of Employee’s
death) in a lump sum payment. Any remaining payments and benefits due under the Agreement will be paid as otherwise provided
in the Agreement.

(e)    Withholding Taxes. To the extent any payments under this Agreement are wages subject to income and
employment tax withholding, the Company has the right to withhold or otherwise require Executive to pay to the Company the
amount of any taxes that the Company may be required to withhold before delivery of such payment to Executive.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Exhibit 10.6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by its duly
authorized officers, as of the day and year first above written.

   DIAMONDBACK E&P LLC

Date: February 27, 2014  By: /s/ Travis D. Stice  

    Travis Stice, in his individual capacity  
      

   EMPLOYEE

Date: February 4, 2014  By: /s/ Russell Pantermuehl  

    Russell Pantermuehl, in his individual capacity  
      

      

Diamondback E&P LLC & Russell Pantermuehl Employment Agreement Signature Page



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Travis D. Stice, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Diamondback Energy, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 

    

Date: May 9, 2014   /s/ Travis D. Stice
   Travis D. Stice
   Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Teresa L. Dick, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Diamondback Energy, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 

    

Date: May 9, 2014   /s/ Teresa L. Dick
   Teresa L. Dick
   Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIOD REPORT

I, Travis D. Stice, Chief Executive Officer of Diamondback Energy, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

    

Date: May 9, 2014   /s/ Travis D. Stice
   Travis D. Stice
   Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIOD REPORT

I, Teresa L. Dick, Chief Financial Officer of Diamondback Energy, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

    

Date: May 9, 2014   /s/ Teresa L. Dick
   Teresa L. Dick
   Chief Financial Officer


